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This Financial Report is published by authority of the Council for the period
from 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021.
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Overview

The 2020/21 fiscal year was a year of challenge, adaptation and
perseverance. The COVID-19 pandemic has changed the way we live,
interact and learn. It has forced every organization to review and adjust
their modes of operations — and universities have not been exempted
from this.

The University made the safety and wellbeing of the community its
top priority and rapidly responded to this unprecedented challenge on
numerous fronts: offering a blended face-to-face and online educational
delivery model for students, implementing flexible work arrangements
for staff, and adopting extraordinary measures to maintain a safe and
healthy environment on campus, etc. The University has made additional
investments in online teaching and learning, increased spending on
personal protective equipment as well as cleaning and sanitizing services,
provided financial support to students, and offered rental waivers or
concessions to students, caterers and tenants. This extra spending and
revenue forgone amounted to HK$30.7 million (2019/20: HK$27.0 million).

Despite the pandemic, 2020/21 was another remarkable year for the
University marked by strong financial results. The University has been
able to maintain the momentum, growing its tuition income while keeping
its expenses at an appropriate level. This has resulted in a HK$652.9
million consolidated net surplus for 2020/21. Net cash generated from
operating activities were HK$527.6 million. Consolidated net assets at
the end of the financial year totalled HK$4,380.3 million, an increase
of 17.5% from 2019/20. These results would not have been possible
without the outstanding response of our staff to the challenges and their
commitment to ensure that the best academic support was given to our
students with minimal disruption.
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Highlights of the Year

The University continued to make significant investments in physical
facilities, driven by the academic priorities of teaching, research and
related activities. The HKMU Jockey Club Institute of Healthcare (IOH)
was opened on 8 January 2021, marking a new milestone for the
University’s development. The 13-story building has a gross floor area
of 18,680 square metres, and places all the healthcare-related resources
and facilities under one roof. It is well-equipped with professional
laboratories and centres covering various disciplines, technologically
advanced teaching and learning facilities and equipment, as well as
spacious amenities. The building not only greatly enriches students’
learning experience, but also enables the University to train the next
generation of healthcare professionals to meet the needs of society.

We were delighted to welcome Professor Paul Lam Kwan-sing as our
new President on 1 April 2021. Professor Lam is a distinguished scholar
and a respected academic leader with extensive academic and higher
education administrative experience in Hong Kong and overseas. He
joined the University from City University of Hong Kong, where he served
in various academic and leadership positions over the past 27 years.
We are confident that with his eminent academic standing and extensive
management exposure, Professor Lam will be able to lead the University
in its further development and help the University achieve excellence.

The University was renamed ‘Hong Kong Metropolitan University
(HKMU) on 1 September 2021, marking the University’s unique position
in this global metropolis. The new name is inclusive, compatible with
the multifaceted nature of the University, and reflects the innovative,
progressive and diverse spirit of the University, its students and alumni.
It conveys the idea that the University’s teaching and research are
modern and forward-looking, and that the University addresses the
contemporary needs of the city and neighbouring regions. The new name
creates a brand that better identifies the University’s mission and product
offerings. It helps the University distinguish and differentiate itself in the
evolving marketplace, and provides a platform for building on its past
accomplishments and heritage while communicating excitement and high
expectations for the future.
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Income and Expenditure

Strong finances underpin the delivery of all our strategies. Consolidated
income for the year was HK$1,538.6 million, of which HK$1,442.4
million was tuition fee income, benefiting from a moderate growth in
student numbers. The strong revenue streams allow us to generate
the cash necessary to deliver our long-term plans whilst remaining
financially resilient.

Operating expenditures have been effectively managed within the
approved budget. Total operating expenses were HK$1,114.9 million
in 2020/21. The maijority of these expenses (HK$733.6 million) were
personnel costs, which comprised 65.8% (2019/20: 69.6%) of the total
operating expenses as we continued to invest in our staff to support
growth in teaching and research, and improve student to staff ratios.

Non-personnel costs fell below budget as a direct result of the pandemic-
related reduction of campus activities, which led to decrease in spending
on travel, conferences, events, supplies, and a range of other items.
These cost decreases were partially offset by multi-million-dollar
investments in online teaching and learning facilities as well as public
health infrastructure for the campus, including personal protective
equipment, enhanced cleaning, and other pandemic-related expenses.
Premise-related expenses were HK$153.8 million, which accounted for
13.8% (2019/20: 11.4%) of total operating expenses, reflecting opening of
the IOH campus. Direct student costs were HK$41.2 million, representing
3.7% (2019/20: 3.5%) of the total operating expenses.
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Investment

The global market was extremely volatile during 2020/21 triggered by
the COVID-19 pandemic and various geopolitical tensions. The global
lockdown during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic triggered
the strongest economic contraction since the 2009 financial crisis. Most
economies recovered sharply as massive fiscal and monetary stimulus
kicked in and lockdown restrictions were eased after the roll-out of
COVID-19 vaccinations. However, new waves of the pandemic driven
by COVID-19 variants set the economy back again. The sustainability
of the economic recovery will depend on the effectiveness of vaccine
deployment and investment. On the other hand, US-China relations were
at their lowest pointin decades. Current trends portend steadily worsening
relations over the long term, with increasingly adverse consequences for
all parties involved.

Despite all these challenges, the University continued to do well, and its
investment portfolios are being managed under a prudent, risk-focused,
and diversified strategy. HK$246.4 million net interest and investment
income was recorded in 2020/21. The value of the Group’s investment
as of 31 August 2021 was HK$2,343.2 million (2019/20: HK$2,084.8
million), an increase of 12.4% from the previous year.
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Donations and Government Grants

Donations from individuals, corporations, and foundations represent
a vitally important source of funding for the University. In aggregate, a
total of HK$160.5 million in donations and grants was recorded for the
year, with HK$29.6 million reflected as current year grants and donations
in support of operations and an additional HK$130.9 million recorded
as deferred income for funding the University’s long-term investment
in physical infrastructure and providing resources for core activities for
future generations. This included HK$51.6 million in donations from The
Hong Kong Jockey Club Charities Trust for the IOH and STEAM projects.
We are immensely grateful to the University’s past and present donors
for their generosity in providing the resources that enable the University’s
mission and its aspirational pursuit of excellence.

Results of the Year

The financial results of the year reflect the exceptional expertise
and dedication of all members of the University’s community during
an unprecedented period of turbulence. The University achieved a
consolidated operating surplus of HK$423.7 million and a net interest
and investment income of HK$246.4 million, contributing to a HK$652.9
million overall net surplus, which is amongst the best in the University’s
history. Operating cash flow was a strong HK$527.6 million and net
assets of the Group increased to HK$4,380.3 million. These results
ensure that the University is financially robust and able to respond to the
challenges ahead. On behalf of the Council, | want to record my thanks to
our leadership team and all of our academic and administrative staff, who
have confronted the challenges with great professionalism, maintaining
at all times our commitment to exceptional teaching and research.
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Way Forward

With a strengthened financial position and a long-term development
strategy in place, the University is committed to making further investments
for the future. The University will continue the development of the Hong
Kong Metropolitan University (Zhaoging) (MUZQ) Project together with the
Zhaoqing Municipal Government and Zhaoging University. The University
has commenced preparatory work on academic planning, institutional
structure and campus design and development with the Mainland partners,
and will secure approval from the relevant authorities in the near future.
A Steering Committee has been set up under the Council to oversee and
monitor the MUZQ campus development. Occupying an area of 2,500
acres, MUZQ will offer professional and practical programmes, contributing
towards the talent development in the Greater Bay Area. The project will
help strengthen the academic and research cooperation as well as student
exchange between Hong Kong and Zhaoqing.

As always, the University will look into opportunities to further enhance
its quality of teaching, expand its teaching facilities, and create a more
conducive learning environment for students in order to equip them with the
necessary skills to make valuable contributions to society.

Global financial markets will continue to be volatile in 2021/22 because of the
COVID-19 variants, fiscal policy uncertainty, geopolitical tensions, stretched
investor sentiment, and a still-recovering job market. Notwithstanding
these uncertainties, the University is confident in its long-term financial
sustainability, which is essential for delivering its mission.

Peter WAN Kam-to
Treasurer of Hong Kong Metropolitan University
(formerly The Open University of Hong Kong)
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To the Council of Hong Kong Metropolitan University
(formerly The Open University of Hong Kong)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong Metropolitan
University (the “University”, formerly known as The Open University of
Hong Kong) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 13 to
86, which comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31st August 2021;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in fund balances for the year
then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
August 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Other Information

The Council is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in Treasurer’s Report and
Performance Indicators, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of The Council and
The Audit Committee for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Council is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and The Open University of Hong
Kong Ordinance (subsequently amended as Hong Kong Metropolitan
University Ordinance with effect on 1st September 2021), and for
such internal control as the Council determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Council is
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Council either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing financial reporting
process of the Group.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 15 of The Open University of Hong
Kong Ordinance (subsequently amended as section 15 of Hong Kong
Metropolitan University Ordinance with effect on 1st September2021) and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

« ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the Council.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

» Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council’'s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

« Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 10th January 2022
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RIZBEZ—F/\A=+—H AS AT 31ST AUGUST 2021
LUBTtiEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

R-EZ—% RZIBEZS
NB=+—H NB=+—H
Mizx At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
Note $°000 $'000
JERENEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
REWE Investment properties 7 133,809 137,246
MIZE ~ WA R Property, plant and equipment 8 1,926,550 1,877,321
BREE Intangible assets 9 = 46
ERAEEE Right-of-use assets 22 12,638 20,741
FERB LG Student loan receivables 12 43,529 32,973
AN S RIS Financial investments at amortised cost 14 93,080 93,577
2,209,606 2,161,904
MAEE CURRENT ASSETS
RIEHRMEE Stock of course materials 2,567 2,714
FEWBRSN « E{HFEURBRFN «  Accounts receivable, other receivables,

FEFIERIRE prepayments and deposits 13 289,626 241,493
FEWBEEFR Student loan receivables 12 7,331 2,119
BRERRRMATEE Designated financial assets at fair value

BB EEREE through profit or loss 15 2,243,530 1,990,604
RSB AN SRR E Financial investments at amortised cost 14 6,643 601
[REIEAHEB=EA Bank deposits with original maturities

ZERITERR over three months 16 389,418 301,906
RERIREFEY Cash and cash equivalents 16 1,438,416 1,157,520

4,377,531 3,696,957
neafE CURRENT LIABILITIES
AR LA E Fee income receipt in advance 17 592,283 493,345
FEFTRRTR ~ FEETEF Accounts payable, accrued expenses

)& and provisions 18 208,321 277,982
IEFEUR 25 Deferred income 19 235,989 277,888
B EMERE RS Current portion of gratuities provision 20 24,569 27,828
HEa/ERMEY Current portion of lease liabilities 22 7,531 8,347
RIERHE Income tax payable 100 78

1,068,793 1,085,468
MOEERE NET CURRENT ASSETS 3,308,738 2,611,489
HEER TOTAL ASSETS LESS
it R=RE CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,518,344 4,773,393
JERENEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
B S ERE Gratuities provision 20 19,494 14,954
BEEEREHN Government loans, secured 21 464,013 440,943
HEaE Lease liabilities 22 237 7,768
REEAES Deferred capital fund 23 646,174 576,560
FERIEEE Deferred tax liability 24 8,088 5,699
1,138,006 1,045,924
SEENEE TOTAL NET ASSETS 4,380,338 3,727,469
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

RIEZ—F/\B=+—H  ASAT 31STAUGUST 2021

UHETHEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
RIE=Z—% R-B-=HE
NB=+—H NB=+—H
Mz At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
Note $°000 $000
HER REPRESENTED BY
HenfiEe FUNDS AND RESERVES 6 4,380,338 3,727,469

REBN_F_—F1+-A-_HRENGSHBERS
Approved by the Council on 2nd December 2021

FinE MEEER HEE
Peter WAN Kam-to Paul LAM Kwan-sing Raymond CHIU Chi-wai

BE RE M RREEIEEE
Treasurer President Director of Finance &
Facilities Management
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE_S_—F/\A=+—HLFE FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31ST AUGUST 2021

WAETHEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
HE—ES-—F BE_S"FF
NB=+—H NB=+—H
\ESFRE @A
Year ended Seventeen months ended
Kisz  31st August 2021 31st August 2020
Note $°000 $000
HET5EE OPERATING ACTIVITIES
EEW OPERATING INCOME
BEKR Tuition fee income 1,442,410 1,710,027
EE(SE=lea Consultancy fee income 29,046 32,337
HTERRS Miscellaneous income 67,154 78,813
EE S Total operating income 1,538,610 1,821,177
EEMX OPERATING EXPENDITURE
BBREX Academic expenditure
ERIZHA Course materials (19,718) (21,651)
LEMA A Tutors’ costs (42,608) (50,004)
BEBLERA Direct student costs (41,231) (53,816)
BEEMA Staff costs (430,605) (614,046)
—hRFX General expenses 26 (9,235) (13,144)
(543,397) (752,661)
THRAX Administrative expenditure
BHERA Staff costs (255,152) (404,649)
—iFs General expenses 26 (239,203) (292,769)
TEER Depreciation charge (77,145) (94,465)
(571,500) (791,883)
HEERY Total operating expenditure (1,114,897) (1,544,544)
EERE OPERATING RESULT 423,713 276,633
BRI SEBH OTHER ACTIVITIES FUNDED
HthESh BY DONATIONS AND GRANTS
KA Income 27 137,074 128,318
53 Expenditure 27 (149,091) (145,889)
BRI SE A RESULT OF OTHER ACTIVITIES FUNDED
Hth;FEIRIA BY DONATIONS AND GRANTS (12,017) (17,571)
HAFERIZEWZIE NET RESULT BEFORE INTEREST AND
BHEERFZRNR INVESTMENT INCOME AND FINANCE COST 411,696 259,062
FH E R IRE WS Net interest and investment income 34 246,352 252,538
W& Finance cost 22 (454) (1,108)
RiRF=RER SURPLUS BEFORE INCOME TAX 657,594 510,492
FRigMEX Income tax expense 35 (9,043) (9,274)
FR /AR SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR / PERIOD 648,551 501,218
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LUBTHE
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FERAETE

FR / R REEE
SEE :
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HHES
—hx R ER

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME / (LOSS)
Items that may be reclassified
to profit or loss
Currency translation differences

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR / PERIOD
ALLOCATED TO:

Specific funds
General and exchange reserves

M5
Note

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST AUGUST 2021

HE—ES-—F BE_SZF
NB=+—H ANB=+—H
IEFE E++EEA

Year ended Seventeen months ended
31st August 2021 31st August 2020
$°000 $'000
4,318 (170)

652,869 501,048

4,325 11,874

648,544 489,174
652,869 501,048
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Hithir 58518 -

FEENFRTEHRERR
FiE4ZERELRE
HISR S Wk iR R
R-IEZEHE
NB=+—Bz#EeR

A— i — EE'ﬂE
R—F—F

NB—BZiEeR

FREER
Hithir S U -

ITEBNFREMBRE

FREEZERER

FRRG RS

R-B=Z—5
NA=+—Bz#EeR

fro B iEEEER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

BE_S_—F/\A=+—HLFE FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31ST AUGUST 2021

WAETHEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
—fig R
ERGEE
BHEE®  General and
Specific exchange R
funds reserves Total
$'000 $°000 $°000
Balance as at 1st April 2019 309,767 2,916,654 3,226,421
Surplus for the period 11,874 489,344 501,218

Other comprehensive loss:
Exchange difference arising from
translation of a foreign subsidiary’s

financial statements - (170) (170)
- (170) (170)

Total comprehensive income for the period 11,874 489,174 501,048
Balance as at 31st August 2020 321,641 3,405,828 3,727,469
Balance as at 1st September 2020 321,641 3,405,828 3,727,469
Surplus for the year 4,325 644,226 648,551

Other comprehensive income:
Exchange difference arising from
translation of a foreign subsidiary’s

financial statements - 4,318 4,318

- 4,318 4,318

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,325 648,544 652,869
Balance as at 31st August 2021 325,966 4,054,372 4,380,338

HER GBS 2 BEFFHNHIEE6 ©
Details of movements in funds and reserves are set out in note 6.
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e R EMER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEZSFS_—F/\BH=1+—HIEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST AUGUST 2021

LUBTTHER

REEBIHZHERE
EBEHEECRE
[EIRR=ZN A

EREHEEZFRE

KEREEFHZRERE
BUHFIR
[Eheia=tvess
BIESEERFEER

FREEAERERRMATE
BLHBIEEREENES
RN B EBERERRRATE
BLHBIEEREENES
RNEIHR EHE 2 Ri#E

AN ERIRE
BAYIZE - kA

HEME « B RERFEFRISE

ERTEECZER
BLEERECZER
REHARER=EA

ZIRITIER . (1800) /iR

REEBHAZERE
RKEMEEHZRERE
HEM
- REED
- FRER D
HEBNZEREN
WHNE AT R E™R

MEEBEE/ (BA)
ZERE
RERFSFEYHIFES)
REY | Nz RERIRE
EEMEER
ERWBHER
REX | iXZRERRE
FEMEER

B

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 38
Overseas tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received

Investment income received

Fund management and custody fees paid

Funds placed in designated financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Funds withdrawn from designated financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from matured and disposed
financial investments at amortised cost

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Sale proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Student loans granted to students

Student loans repaid by students

(Increase)/decrease in bank deposits with
original maturities over three months

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Lease payments
- Principal elements
- Interest elements 22
Interest-free loan repaid to the Government 38
Interest-free loan received from the Government 38

Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the financial year / period

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the

- - BE-E-SF
NB=+—H NB=+—H
\ESFRE @A
Year ended Seventeen months
mizz 31stAugust2021 ended 31st August 2020
$°000 $'000
534,182 717,158
(6,631) (7,824)
527,551 709,334
9,009 38,542
138,957 117,832
(5,720) (7,163)
(148,308) (821,092)
56 510,457
25 57,876
(146,873) (536,854)
66 183
(17,331) (12,922)
1,518 9,235
(87,513) 353,484
(256,114) (290,422)
(8,347) (10,348)
(454) (1,108)
- (31,700)
14,400 -
5,599 (43,156)
277,036 375,756
1,157,520 781,875
3,860 (111)
1,438,416 1,157,520

financial year / period 16
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e SRR HIEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

1. General information

1.1 Hong Kong Metropolitan University, “the University” (formerly The
Open University of Hong Kong), was established as a body corporate
on 25th May 1989 under The Open Learning Institute of Hong Kong
Ordinance 1989 for the provision of opportunities for higher education
in Hong Kong by means of open learning and thereby to advance
learning and knowledge, and to enhance economic and social
development in Hong Kong.

1.2 Under the Memorandum of Administration Arrangements which provides
the framework for the operational relationship between the Government
and the University, the Government met the setting up and capital costs
of the University by giving a grant in each financial year up to 1992/1993.
Starting from 1993/1994, the University became self-financing.

1.3 Upon the third review of the Institute by Hong Kong Council for
Academic Accreditation (“HKCAA”) in June 1995 and the successful
transfer of accrediting role from HKCAA, the Government confirmed
the Institute’s self-accrediting status to validate its own degree
programmes in October 1996.

On 30th May 1997, the Institute was upgraded to a university following
The Open Learning Institute of Hong Kong (Amendment) Ordinance 1997
passed by the Legislative Council on 21st May 1997. The Open Learning
Institute of Hong Kong Ordinance 1989 and The Open Learning Institute
of Hong Kong (Amendment) Ordinance 1997 had been repealed and
superseded by The Open University of Hong Kong Ordinance.

On 1st September 2021, The Open University of Hong Kong
(Amendment) Bill 2021 was passed by the Legislative Council.
The Open University of Hong Kong Ordinance had been amended
as Hong Kong Metropolitan University Ordinance. Pursuant to the
Ordinance, the name of the University was changed from “The Open
University of Hong Kong” to “Hong Kong Metropolitan University” with
effect from 1st September 2021.

1.4 The principal activities of the University’s subsidiaries are set out in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. The University and
its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

1.5 The address of its registered office is 30 Good Shepherd Street,
Homantin, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

1.6 These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of units of HK dollars ($'000), unless otherwise stated.

2. Change of Financial Year End Date

Pursuant to a resolution of the Council Meeting dated 15th November
2018, the University’s financial year end date was changed from
31st March to 31st August. The change was to align with the
academic calendar. Accordingly, the comparative figures presented
for the consolidated financial statements cover a period of seventeen
months from 1st April 2019 to 31st August 2020 and are not directly
comparative with those of current financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
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31

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the financial years / periods presented,
unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“‘HKFRS”),
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and interpretations (collectively
HKFRS) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
as modified by the revaluation of designated financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments, which are carried
at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations
have been adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial year
beginning on 1st September 2020:

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of material

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest rate benchmark reform

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concession

Conceptual framework for
financial reporting 2018

Revised conceptual framework
for financial reporting
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3.1

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Apart from the above, no otheramendments that are mandatory
for the financial year commencing on 1st September 2020 are
relevant and applicable to the Group.

A number of amendments to standards are effective for annual
periods beginning after 1st September 2021 and have not been
applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
None of these are expected to have a significant effect on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group, except the
following set out below:

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities  1st January 2023
HKAS 1 as Current or Non-Current
Amendments to Property, Plant and 1st January 2022
HKAS 16 Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use
Amendments to Reference to the 1st January 2022
HKFRS 3 Conceptual Framework
Annual Annual improvements 1st January 2022
improvements  to HKFRSs
2018 — 2020 cycle
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1st January 2023
Amendments to  Sale or Contribution of To be
HKFRS10 and Assets between an determined
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate

or Joint Venture

The Group will apply the amendments to standards in the year
of initial application. The Group is currently assessing the impact
of the adoption of the amendments to standards and is not yet in
a position to state whether they would have a significant impact
on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
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3.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Subsidiaries

3.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has right to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis,
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

3.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value
at the acquisition date through surplus or deficit.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9 either in surplus or deficit or as a
change to other comprehensive income/(loss). Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

3.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Costis adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of the subsidiaries are accounted for by the
University on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investment in a subsidiary is required upon
receiving dividends from the investment if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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3.

3.4

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term yields or for capital appreciation or
both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is classified as investment
property.

Investment property is carried at cost, including related transaction costs,
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the
cost of the investment properties over their estimated useful lives of 50
years. Where the carrying amount of an investment property is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to
its recoverable amount.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
All other repair and maintenance costs are expensed in surplus or deficit
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as
property, plant and equipment, and its carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at the cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Construction in progress is stated at cost which includes development
and construction expenditure and other direct costs attributable to
the development less any accumulated impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment
and depreciated accordingly, upon completion and/or receipt of the
occupation permit issued by the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR”) Government, where applicable.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of
the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
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3.5

e SRR HIEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold land classified
as finance lease

Remaining lease period
Buildings 20 - 50 years or lease period,
whichever is shorter

Renovation costs 5 years or period of tenancy

agreement whichever is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 3 -5years
equipment
Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amount and are recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

Intangible assets — computer software

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and any directly attributable cost of preparing the
asset for its intended use. The intangible assets are initially recognised at
costs less impairment losses and are amortised upon completion of the
user-acceptance test.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software
product include costs of employee benefits and professional fees arising
directly from bringing the asset to its working condition.

Computer software recognised as assets are amortised over their
estimated useful lives of three years.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are
recognised as an expense as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets

3.6.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial investments and other financial assets
either those to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit
or loss, or those to be measured at amortised cost. The classification
depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial
investments and other financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business
model for managing those assets changes.

(a) Financial assets at amortised cost
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of reporting
period. These are classified as non-current assets.

(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial
assets which are managed in accordance with internal documented
risk management guidelines or investment strategy provided by the
Group’s key management personnel. Assets in this category are
stated at fair value and classified as current assets.

3.6.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the
trade-date — the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction
costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially
recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

3.6.2 Recognition and measurement (continued)

Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost is included in
interest and investment income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in interest and investment income, together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

3.6.3 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the University, its subsidiaries or the
counterparty.

Stock of course materials

Stock of course materials are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted-average method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less applicable variable selling expenses or value in use,
wherever appropriate.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call
with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less.

Receivables

Receivables include tuition fee receivables, student loan receivables
and other receivables incurred under the ordinary course of business. If
collection of receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for impairment.
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3.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Receivables (continued)

The Group measures the expected credit losses using a lifetime expected
loss allowance for tuition fee receivables and student loan receivables.
For other receivables, the Group measures the expected credit losses
using 12 months expected loss allowance. The expected loss rates are
based on the historical observed default rates adjusted for forward-
looking estimates.

Impairment losses on receivables are recognised within operating result.
Receivables are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

3.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

31

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets
not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amountis the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting year / period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event’) and that loss
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a
group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where observable
data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For accounts receivable and student loan receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost other than
accounts receivable and student loan receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses,
depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a financial
asset measured at amortised cost other than accounts receivable and
student loan receivables has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the receivables are
not settled in accordance with the terms stipulated in the agreements,
management considers these receivables as underperforming or non-
performing and impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

When management considers that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery, the financial assets measured at amortised cost will be
written off.

3.12 Contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer or student, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer or student and
assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or provide services
to the customer or student. The contract is a liability and recognised
as fee income receipt in advance if the measure of the remaining
performance obligations exceeds the measure of the remaining rights.
The Group recognises the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with
a customer or student within contract assets if the Group expects to
recover those costs.
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3.13 Provisions

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely than not
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
the amount has been reliably estimated. No provision will be made for
future anticipated operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlements is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

3.14 Payables

Accounts payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business. Payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

3.15 Loans from the HKSAR Government

Loans are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Loans are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value
is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
over the period of the loans using the effective interest method.

Loans are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the balance sheet date.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.16 Leases
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A contract is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
A contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset if the
customer has both the right to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from using the identified asset and the right to direct the use of
the identified asset.

As a lessee, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset (including
within property, plant and equipment as “leasehold land and buildings”
in the consolidated balance sheet) and a lease liability at the lease
commencement date, except for leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less which are recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

(a) Right-of-use assets

At inception, the right-of-use asset comprises the initial lease
liability, initial direct costs and the obligation to restore the asset,
less any incentive granted by the lessor. The right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the lease term of the underlying asset. The right-
of-use asset is subject to impairment review whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable.

From 1st April 2019, land use right has been reclassified to right-of-
use assets.

All land in the People’s Republic of China is stated-owned or
collectively-owned and no individual land ownership exists. The
Group acquires the right to use certain land. Until 31st March 2019,
the premiums paid for such right are treated as prepayment for
operating lease and recorded as land use rights, which are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses (if any). Land use rights are amortised over the lease period
of 50 years using the straight-line method.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.16 Leases (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of future
lease payments with reference to an expected lease term, which
includes optional lease periods when the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise the option to extend or not to terminate the lease.
Future lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease, if this cannot be readily determined, an incremental
borrowing rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset. The lease liability is subsequently
measured by increasing its carrying amount to reflect interest on
the lease liability (using the effective interest rate method) and by
reducing its carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
The lease liability is remeasured (with a corresponding adjustment
made to the related right-of-use asset) when there is a change in
future lease payments in case of renegotiation, changes of an index
or rate or in case of reassessment of options.

3.17 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred income

tax.

Tax is recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive

income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income.

(@)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.7 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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3.18 Income recognition

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
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Student fee income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period
of the courses to which it relates.

Miscellaneous fees consist of application fee, advance standing claim
fee, graduation fee, etc.; and are recognised when services are rendered.

Consultancy fee income is recognised when the services are rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the
effective interest method.

Operating lease rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease period.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is
established.

Miscellaneous income is recognised on an accruals basis.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue by timing of
satisfaction of performance obligations:

BE—S——% Year ended
NB=+—BHLEE 31st August 2021
$°000 $'000

BIBEERBESHKLE Revenue from contracts with customers and students
ERE—EE 96,200 At a point in time 96,200
E—EREEA 1,442,410 Over time 1,442,410
1,538,610 1,538,610
Hth AR R 137,074 Revenue from other sources 137,074
1,675,684 1,675,684
BE_SSHF Seventeen
NB=+—H months ended
E+EEA 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000

BUBERBEGHINE Revenue from contracts with customers and students
ERE—RE 111,150 At a point in time 111,150
E—EREFEA 1,710,027 Over time 1,710,027
1,821,177 1,821,177
Hibz R 128,318 Revenue from other sources 128,318

1,949,495

1,949,495
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

319 EBEXREE « BEEXESE 3.19 Capital fund, deferred capital fund
REMERES and other specific funds

RUBARS - URREERFRBEIEE
M - RBERREBNES - BEARSGHEF
EINEREETH A ERFHAITES
HEME - MR AL ETIRE

RIDBIEEARE - URREBIEEERE
EYE ~ B RREPTIERTENI IR © 5%
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AERFHRNITEENEYE - HER
REBMEHLE -

HittERESHNRIEA T XFEENE
B - WIERIZHE - BEEMNEE  ARE
B BTRENENES - KERE - &
MRS  ENRMERELR BHEA
ESEERBA -

3.20 4 57408
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BRHERFERBRER (Ll
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Fo¥y B & 72 IR S0l & I B B AT R S e
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SRS IEMREEE G TS W RS
BIEREI AT B & R BB - e
REB) (BR L3 1953 FAREEENEE
W3 ~ BB RBREBHVER - FRREERE
9 - ERBILEECHBRE - BFE
MEUEREERR M TE ER R B IR R E I A
FCHRIRARESE A A -

The capital fund is set up to reflect funds of the Group allocated for the
purchase or construction of property, plant and equipment. They are
released to match with depreciation of related assets over their useful
lives or upon disposal of property, plant and equipment.

The deferred capital fund is set up to reflect grants and donations
earmarked for the purchase or construction of property, plant and
equipment. The fund will be recognised as income to match with the
depreciation charge of the related assets over their useful lives or upon
disposal of property, plant and equipment.

Other specific funds are set up to support the Group’s activities such
as course development, student loan scheme, research projects,
scholarships and bursaries to students, building maintenance, IT
development, etc. They are released when the related expenses are
incurred.

3.20 Donations and benefactions

General donations and benefactions are recognised as income when
right to receive has been established.

Specific donations and benefactions received or receivable (other than
for purchase or construction of property, plant and equipment which
are dealt with as deferred capital fund in note 3.19 above) are initially
recorded as deferred income and recognised as income over the periods
to match with the related expenditure.

Matching grants are recognised as income when grants have been
received or are receivable from the Government.

Other government grant or sponsorship (other than for purchase or
construction of property, plant and equipment which are dealt with as
deferred capital fund in note 3.19 above), together with the interest
income arising therefrom, is recorded as deferred income, when there
is a reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching with it and that the grant or the sponsorship will be received.
They are recognised as income over the period to match with the costs
they are intended to compensate.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.21 Foreign currency translation

(@)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the University’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end / period-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in surplus or deficit.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and
liabilities, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are
recognised in surplus or deficit as part of the fair value gain or loss.

Group entities

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of
which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i)

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate of the balance sheet date;

income and expenses for each consolidated statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the
dates of the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income/(loss).
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
3.22 Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for unutilised annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlement to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Retirement scheme obligations

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution retirement
schemes in Hong Kong are expensed as incurred.

The Group contributes to an employee retirement scheme established
by municipal government in respect of a subsidiary in the PRC.
The municipal government undertakes to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future retired employees of this
subsidiary. Contributions to this scheme are expensed as incurred.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.23 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred, except
to the extent that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying
asset commences when expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to
prepare the asset forits intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

3.24 Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value
on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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4, MHBEMEREREMEEE 4. Financial risk and capital risk management
41 BERASEZE 4.1 Financial risk factors
(a) SIEEE (a) Foreign exchange risk
HAREETEEBRAMENE - AmEA The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is exposed to
SZREIEUEBREZ IR E KA BN foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions
ZAREBER 7 M EHEAREENETS and recognised assets and liabilities mainly in connection with
FERBHRES ZHNERR - investment in securities, certain of which the currencies are not the

Group entities’ functional currencies.

EMEEUETEER ° The majority of them are denominated in US dollars (“USD”).

TREENEBMRREBELR | BENGE The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the balance
AN EERTENSIEZBHUR sheet date to reasonable possible changes in the foreign currency
E - piiReHMRRAE - SEEMF exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, on the
NIEERTENFIESHNHRES Group’s surplus/deficit after income tax. 1% is the sensitivity rate
1% ° that represents management’'s assessment of the reasonable

possible change in foreign exchange rates.

S NEEREH [ (TFE) HER | BIRRER | Rz E
Foreign Currency Increase/(decrease) in exchange rate  Effect on surplus/deficit for the year / period
% $000
—E—F
NB=+—H
31st August 2021
7T 1 17,749
usb (1) (17,749)
—ECEE
NB=+—H
31st August 2020
e 1 15,808
usD (1) (15,808)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity and debt securities price risk
because investments held by the Group are classified as designated
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group’s investment policy is to prudently invest all funds
managed by the Group in a manner which will satisfy liquidity
requirements, safeguard financial assets and manage risks while
optimising return on investments.

Investment and fund management is governed by investment
policies and risk management guidelines approved by the Council.
Investment restrictions and guidelines form an integral part of risk
control. Specific restrictions and guidelines are set for each fund
in accordance with its investment objectives. In addition, specific
limits are set for each fund to control risks (e.g. permissible asset
type, asset allocation, liquidity, credit, counterparty concentration,
maturity, foreign exchange and interest rate risks) of the investments.

The Group has a Finance Committee which monitors the risk and
performance of its investments while external fund managers have
also been appointed to manage the investment funds. The external
fund managers are stable and financially strong financial institutions.
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

4. Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Price risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to range from 0.73%
to 1.12% (2020: 0.62% to 1.04%) increase/decrease in the fair values
of the equity and debt securities with all other variables held constant,
based on their carrying amounts at the balance sheet date.

HER  HN

BER | BRZTE

Effect on surplus/deficit
for the year / period

$°000

k- et 2

AB=+—H
31st August 2021
BHNGEHNERIERLLE Increase in prices of equity and debt securities with

EH0.73% E 1.12% applicable rates ranging from 0.73% to 1.12% 20,360
SEHNESNERIRER LR Decrease in prices of equity and debt securities with

T 0.73% £ 1.12% applicable rates ranging from 0.73% to 1.12% (20,360)
k- k5. 3

NB=+—H
31st August 2020
FEHNESNERIRER LR Increase in prices of equity and debt securities with

LEFH0.62% E 1.04% applicable rates ranging from 0.62% to 1.04% 17,909
BHNGEHNERIERLLE Decrease in prices of equity and debt securities with

T2 0.62% = 1.04% applicable rates ranging from 0.62% to 1.04% (17,909)
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4. Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(€)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its deposits with
banks and investment managers, financial assets at amortised cost,
student loan receivables and accounts and other receivables.

At the balance sheet date, there was no concentration of credit risk.
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amounts of cash deposits with banks, financial assets at
amortised cost, student loan receivables and accounts and other
receivables.

The Group has policies in place for the control and monitoring its
credit risk. Fee income primarily has to be received in advance
before service is rendered. Deposits are placed with banks and
investment managers which are all high-credit-quality financial
institutions. Follow-up action is taken in case of overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of
receivables individually to identify any irrecoverable amounts to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for them.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to meet
liabilities and/or financial commitments as they fall due, and it results
from the amount and maturity mismatch of assets and liabilities.

The Group has prudent liquidity risk management policy in place
by maintaining sufficient cash and short-term bank deposits and
keeping investments sufficiently liquid to meet the operating needs.
The Group employs projected cash flow analysis to manage liquidity
risk by forecasting the amount of cash required and monitoring the
working capital of the Group to ensure that all liabilities due and
known funding requirements could be met.
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4, BERAMREARRAMEIRE () 4. Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)

4.1 BERBESE (§8) 4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(d) mENEEREMR (&) (d) Liquidity risk (continued)
TREZEHIPEAPITEENESHE The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the balance
& > WIREREEHNSHREIRRIE sheet date, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, was
E as follows:
—ER —FERF hEFH 5t
Within 1 year 1 to 5 years After 5 years Total
$°000 $°000 $°000 $'000
—E-—F
NA=+—H 31st August 2021
BRI EIRIRER Government loans, secured - 246,800 280,000 526,800
HEaRE Lease liabilities 7,670 239 - 7,909
FEATRRFR A Accounts payables and
FEETER accrued expenses 172,327 - = 172,327
179,997 247,039 280,000 707,036
—E-EF
NB=+—H 31st August 2020
BAFEIRFRENR Government loans, secured = 172,220 340,180 512,400
iEN= =K Lease liabilities 8,802 7,909 - 16,711
FEFTERFN R Accounts payables and
FEStE accrued expenses 226,697 - - 226,697

235,499 180,129 340,180 755,808
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4. MEBRRREFERER (§)
4.1 MBERER (&)
(e) MERBRATEFRER

SEILERSEHMEE - EFECRER
ERATENXRARETERRERRE
FEVMRESFFHEERMEENF XY
BFREE -

TRETEEFRRELR / BRERNER
HHFRATEN SRS BOERE - &
REHMERAE -

4. Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(e)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group has no interest-bearing financial liabilities. The Group
is exposed to cash flow and fair value interest rate risk through the
impact of rate changes on interest-bearing financial assets, mainly
the cash and cash equivalents and debt securities.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the balance sheet
date to reasonable possible changes in the interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, on the Group’s surplus/deficit after
income tax.

RITEM  AHRE AERREFEY HEMN /KR
(UFEEERT) FEEH/ (FE) B BHERE
Bank deposits, investment in bonds and cash Increasel/(decrease) Effect on surplus/deficit
and cash equivalents in different currencies in interest rate for the year / period
% $°000
—E—&
NB=+—H
31st August 2021
BT 1 15,208
HKD (1) (15,208)
JEETT 1 1,931
Non-HKD (1) (1,931)
e 1 17,139
Total (1) (17,139)
- a3 3
NB=+—H
31st August 2020
BT 1 12,428
HKD (1) (12,428)
JEBTT 1 1,855
Non-HKD (1) (1,855)
5T 1 14,283
Total (1) (14,283)
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Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)
Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide sufficient
funding to support the existing operations and to maintain a strong capital
base for future development of its business.

The Group’s management actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to ensure an optimal capital structure, taking into
consideration the future capital requirements of the Group and capital
efficiency, projected operating cash flows, projected capital expenditure
and projected strategic investment opportunities.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by
level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy
as follows:

* Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (level 1).

* Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

* Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market
data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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4. MEREMREIAEMRSIE () 4. Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)

4.3 DEEEST (48) 4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
TREAEEAR_ZE_—FE/N\B=1+—HK The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are
—ECEF/N\A=ST—HUATFEESEN measured at fair value at 31st August 2021and 2020:

BEKEE:
£ BB BB 5
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
=t 3
NB=+—H As at 31st August 2021
HE Assets
BEERRRMATEE Designated financial assets at
BN EREE fair value through profit or loss
JELHIRE Unlisted investments
-BUERES - Unit trusts 1,088,216 - - 1,088,216
- EEWSES - Fixed income funds 1,138,634 - - 1,138,634
- REREEBZER - Deposits at financial institutions 16,332 - = 16,332
L& Listed investments 348 - - 348
HEEE Total assets 2,243,530 - - 2,243,530
R-EZEHE
NB=+—H As at 31st August 2020
&HE Assets
BEEERRRMATEE Designated financial assets at
BMENEmMEE fair value through profit or loss
JELTHIRE Unlisted investments
-BAEFES - Unit trusts 944,919 - = 944,919
-BEEWRES - Fixed income funds 1,041,472 - - 1,041,472
- RERMEEZER - Deposits at financial institutions 3,929 - - 3,929
LHRE Listed investments 284 - - 284
% REEE Total assets 1,990,604 - - 1,990,604
g
o
4
-
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Financial risk and capital risk management (continued)
Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based
on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value
an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
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5.

FINANCIAL REPORT

A e

S =]

A2

2020 - 2021 8475

B o:s

EREFHEARIRER
FEETIRBBTHECRREMER - FIIE
ERIER FHRRFHNSIRERS - T
BPEREROMEERIBR -

FEMBRRIFLERRERR - RS2 &5
EEHER LRV GMBIRERBET - UTiE
HT HERERRAEEH TMEM B EEY
BENMBRNREERFENRENG G
STRARER

M - BBERRELEANEERENES :

RANEERERNBENGBEARGE - BE
RAMEERNITEREERAE - ARME
RIBAZURPEARENENEE LM
REFEYNERT  HRERYPTERE
B °

FEMBRR R E LT

SEEIRIRFE AR AR O B8R 2 ST A TR
FEBERURERE R - EREAEHRERER
MY - BTRRRATREEAWRCIE - EEHE
RREZEME o I EBARIURERFERER
TR (G5t - ETERREVEET AR - M
BEREZREGRERBERTREE - FBUER
EVHEEN RGN BV FEREST -

M - BEERERR - ERAREE BT EE
RIREYR 2 fhET A E AR -

FEEEEESEHE T MCHERRRAE
EEFE B ERLEEEMERRELENR
BWZEFTHIRR - BEAEEYE - HES R
- ERAREE « BEERKREMEZME
STRIMERSEH - A fEAF RIS
TR - BEEBRHETTINERMIEER - 3%
s LB B RS & 2 IFRBE B A
SHEUHUR, - BIREHEER BRI
EREH - ERRETPIRES e EFRIUE
AREEINE | HHFRZEE -

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal to
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Separation of prepayment of lease premium from property, plant and
equipment:

The valuation of prepayment of lease premium has been performed by
an external valuer by valuing the depreciated replacement cost of the
buildings and then deducting the depreciated replacement cost of the
buildings from the initial consideration paid for the leasehold land and the
building in the People’s Republic of China.

Estimated impairment of receivables:

The Group makes provision for impairment of receivables based on
an assessment of the recoverability of the receivables. Provisions are
applied to receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of impairment
of receivables requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectations are different from the original estimates, such differences
will have impact on the carrying value of receivables and impairment of
receivables is recognised in the year in which such estimates have been
changed.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and investment properties:

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives for the
Group’s property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible
assets and investment properties with reference to the estimated
lease period of the leasehold land, expected technical or commercial
obsolescence arising from changes or improvements in the market and
that the Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of
these assets. Management will revise the depreciation and amortisation
charges where useful lives are different to previously estimated, or it
will write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and therefore depreciation / amortisation expense in
future years.
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6. HELHEES Funds and reserves
FREE

Movements for the year

EsNFARE

MBI RFIEE

ZEREE

Exchange

difference

arising from
- 3 e EESRfEES translation HRIZFEZ—F
hB—H KARZH ZEFHDE of a foreign AB=+—H

ZAEER Income/ Reallocation  subsidiary’s pd 13
As at expenditure of funds financial As at
1st September 2020 recognition and reserves statements 31stAugust 2021
$°000 $000 $°000 $000 $000
HRES Specific Funds
General Development
—hREEEREE  Reserve 104,279 (2,262) - - 102,017
B4 5HESL  Student Loan Fund 166,317 4,561 - - 170,878
Donations and
4\ F488h Benefactions 33,492 3,032 - - 36,524
BEIEEFME  Building Related
REES Facilities Sinking Fund 13,374 - - - 13,374
EARES Capital Fund 3,704 (1,006) - - 2,698
EEFEES Statutory Reserve Fund® 475 - - - 475
321,641 4,325 - - 325,966
—hgfEE General Reserve 3,402,492 644,226 - - 4,046,718
FRRER Surplus for the year 648,551
ERGEE Exchange Reserve 3,336 - - 4,318 7,654
3,727,469 648,551 - 4,318 4,380,338

A RIRREMES)  FRUIFAEGERFFENES T EALZEREES - BEAERBESEIEMBRANEICE TR ErFLE
BRANEERHREES -
Under the PRC regulations, MU-Shenzhen is required to transfer 10% of its net profit to the Statutory Reserve Fund.
Appropriation to the Statutory Reserve Fund may cease when the balance of such reserve fund has reached 50%
of the registered share capital.

HEZSE—F+A=1+—H  FBANEEREESSEINZMBRANE 2R+ - ALt FNBLAH-SS_FIEER
BRKBEHRAERIIED ILREES

As at 31st December 2001, the balance of Statutory Reserve Fund has attained 50% of its registered share capital.
As a result, there was no appropriation transferred to this reserve fund account from Recurrent Account since 2002.

049




R MBS IRRMIEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

6. ELHE#ES () Funds and reserves (continued)

2020 - 2021 B4#5#RkS FINANCIAL REPORT

o0

KA E)
Movements for the financial period
ITEBNAFRR
RITSERRFAESE
ZEREE
Exchange
difference
arising from
RZF—h&E A EIRMHER translation RZEZEHE
ME—E WARZH ZEHDE of a foreign AB=+—H
prd i Income/ Reallocation subsidiary’s ZAEER
As at expenditure of funds financial As at
1st April 2019 recognition and reserves statements 31stAugust 2020
$°000 $'000 $°000 $°000 $'000
HRES Specific Funds
General Development
—hREE R Reserve 100,000 4,279 - - 104,279
B4 EHESL  Student Loan Fund 156,151 10,166 - - 166,317
Donations and
4\ F488h Benefactions 34,470 (978) - - 33,492
BEIBARMAE  Building Related
REES Facilities Sinking Fund 16,031 (304) (2,353) - 13,374
EARES Capital Fund 2,640 (1,289) 2,353 - 3,704
EEFEES Statutory Reserve Fund? 475 - - - 475
309,767 11,874 - - 321,641
—hgfEhE General Reserve 2,913,148 489,344 - - 3,402,492
HiRZ&ER Surplus for the period 501,218
EREE Exchange Reserve 3,506 - - (170) 3,336
3,226,421 501,218 - (170) 3,727,469

N IREEHRENES) - FRIEAESEFFENE P 2 TEALEHERS - EEAEMEESEIFEMRANE S CE+E > ErFLE
BRNEERHBEES -
Under the PRC regulations, MU-Shenzhen is required to transfer 10% of its net profit to the Statutory Reserve Fund.
Appropriation to the Statutory Reserve Fund may cease when the balance of such reserve fund has reached 50%
of the registered share capital.

HE_Z5—

F+ZA=1+—8  FIBREEHEESEEIFMRANE S ZET o ALt - FNBARAEZSZT_FEER
BRI EMRABRRIEDLRERES -
As at 31st December 2001, the balance of Statutory Reserve Fund has attained 50% of its registered share capital.
As a result, there was no appropriation transferred to this reserve fund account from Recurrent Account since 2002.
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7. 1IEWE Investment properties

S MRIBE_FFE
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
% Cost
REY) | BRY) 2 &8k At beginning of the financial year / period 167,649 167,710
EER IR Exchange adjustment 600 (61)
REEK [ AR 2 fE8R At end of the financial year / period 168,249 167,649
REHRE Accumulated depreciation
REL] | B2 iEER At beginning of the financial year / period 30,403 25,392
FW/HRITEER Depreciation for the year / period 3,528 5,056
ERTE Exchange adjustment 509 (45)
REXR [ BBk iEER At end of the financial year / period 34,440 30,403
Net book value at end of the
REXR /X ZEREFE  financial year / period 133,809 137,246

RAZE—FN\A=1+—8  FHIFHARPENREMEN LA TTEBEACEN+—E—Fx (ZE525F  tESEEATT) »
IFHEEEEH— BRI EENGERT — kFITHERBRMERAE - UAHTSEEEAEEMETMHE - AR It RE
NEFBRENRZE—F/\B=+—B 2T EFHIINHEE22
The fair value of the investment properties in PRC of MU-Shenzhen at 31st August 2021 was $7,411,000 (2020:
$7,046,000), representing the valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional
valuers, on an open market value basis. Details and the fair value as at 31st August 2021 of the corresponding land
use right are disclosed in note 22.

RIBEZ—FN\A=+—H  ABREENREVENLTEERA-EATAEBET (225 ZRATHEEER) & IFHh
BEEH—HBIEENHERE —KFITHEERBRAR - UARTHEEFAEEMETHE -
The fair value of the investment properties of the University in Hong Kong at 31st August 2021 was $266,000,000 (2020:

$254,000,000) representing the valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional
valuers, on an open market value basis.

\ZET—F/\A=+—H ' REREBNRBEVENREFES—R=FT B A+—8Bx (ZFFF : —E=FRAEt+/N\E
70)  ERfHEREBIITHRERMANREER

As at 31st August 2021, the investment properties of the University in Hong Kong of the net book value of $132,610,000
(2020: $135,780,000) has been pledged to secure the interest-free loan from the HKSAR Government.
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8. Y - KK Property, plant and equipment

st xE KB
EEY b
Leasehold RIERE H2IE  Fumniture, L]
land and Renovation Construction fixtures and Motor L2
buildings costs inprogress equipment vehicles Total
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000

0% Cost
A_ECEE

SN —Tm—

hB—H#EER At 1st September 2020 1,583,027 210,159 641,723 238,674 1,595 2,675,178

RE Additions 63,378 12,745 5,791 77,517 - 159,431
Transfer from

EHETETRE Construction in progress 633,403 - (641,323) 7,920 - -
HE /sy Disposal/write-off - 27) - (6,937) - (6,964)
FER AT Exchange adjustment 52 - - 137 - 189
R_FE_—F

NE=+—H

ZAEER At 31st August 2021 2,279,860 222,877 6,191 317,311 1,695 2,827,834
HEHRE Accumulated depreciation

RZEIEE

NBE—HZ#ER At 1st September 2020 432,570 165,888 - 198,835 564 797,857
EEMA (fi5Fa) Depreciation (Note a) 63,812 18,418 - 27,655 235 110,120
HE /sy Disposal/write-off - (27) - (6,811) - (6,838)
ER IR Exchange adjustment 32 - - 113 - 145
RZE—F

NA=+—H

ZAEER At 31st August 2021 496,414 184,279 - 219,792 799 901,284

ATBE—F

NA=+—H Net book value at

ZERHERE 31st August 2021 1,783,446 38,598 6,191 97,519 796 1,926,550
M5 Note:

(a) FHIFEERMETA:
Depreciation for the year was charged against:

i $:000

@) L

o TR Administrative expenditure 65,344

04 HESh Other activities 44,776

N o mmiE

< 110,120

LZ) S —

% BERYE  BRBERREANZIR TAEIMRESEY) NEREEEGEUNNEBZTOTHNE+—BREH B0 ( 15
L BH2dG) ) NEELMEG  HR S - —F/\A=1+—HEEFENANE-_TAEBATEER(RISTEF  OE=
4 FEA+N\BT) -

Igi Right-of-use asset included within property, plant and equipment as “leasehold land and buildings” includes the
E= leasehold land of Kwai Hing Learning Centre at 8th to 11th floor of Kowloon Commerce Centre Il (“Kwai Hing Learning
é Centre”). As at 31st August 2021, the net book value was estimated to be $426,550,000 (2020: $430,680,000).

o AZEFET—HFNA=+—H  XREHERONEEREARLE-TNAEL+ET EREERESEEITHREBRRANERER

§ As at 31st August 2021, Kwai Hing Learning Centre amounting to the net book value of $529,700,000 has been
N pledged to secure the interest-free loan from the HKSAR Government.
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8. ¥ - K¥B KR (§8) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

SR ®E KB
EEY B akfE
Leasehold RIERE TEIE  Fumiture, =L
land and Renovation Construction fixtures and Motor L2
buildings costs inprogress equipment vehicles Total
$°000 $000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
3.3 Cost
RZE—NE
MB—Hz#E8k At 1st April 2019 1,583,032 192,611 130,003 216,587 1,334 2,123,567
RE Additions - 17,427 513,075 30,293 1,174 561,969
Transfer from
EHETETRE Construction in progress - 733 (1,355) 622 - -
HE /s Disposal/write-off - (612) - (8,814) (913)  (10,339)
FERHE Exchange adjustment (5) - - (14) - (19)
N—F—F
NA=+—H
ZHEER At 31st August 2020 1,583,027 210,159 641,723 238,674 1,595 2,675,178
HEHRE Accumulated depreciation
\—7‘-‘ j‘LE
MB—HiE8k At 1st April 2019 361,479 139,839 - 185,972 1,275 688,565
ITE&H (MizFa) Depreciation (Note a) 71,093 26,622 - 21,643 201 119,559
HE /g Disposal/write-off - (573) - (8,769) (912) (10,254)
ER IR Exchange adjustment (2) - - (11) - (13)
\—W—WE
NA=+—H
ZAEER At 31st August 2020 432,570 165,888 - 198,835 564 797,857
/'\_H __+ H Net book value at
ZERERE 31st August 2020 1,150,457 44,271 641,723 39,839 1,031 1,877,321

MizE Note:

(a) HAANIREERMAGTA :
Depreciation for the period was charged against:

$°000
THRAZ Administrative expenditure 75,292
Hith)EE Other activities 44,267

119,559

RZEEF/N\B=+—H  ZEHEHFONEDEFEAREOTE=1/81 ' ERFERFEBIITREBRNERER ©
As at 31st August 2020, Kwai Hing Learning Centre amounting to the net book value of $542,360,000 has been
pledged to secure the interest-free loan from the HKSAR Government.
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9. #EA;EE Intangible assets

- AZECEE
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
REH | 8Bilz Net book value as at beginning
BREHE of the financial year / period 46 3,486
FA [ HAr S Amortisation for the year / period (46) (3,440)
REXR /#iFRZ Net book value as at end
AREDFE of the financial year / period - 46

BENEEURANEREERRCBARAREEERRERECERERA

The intangible assets represent the cost of human resources management system acquired and direct attributable
costs incurred.

10. ¥225) Subsidiaries

R=E=—% RIBZEHF
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
RFREZIZE Investment in subsidiaries
JELTHRRAG - A AE Unlisted shares, at cost 9,000 9,000
REFREIZFHEWNT :
Details of the University’s subsidiaries are as follows:
REIREFEFRTEN
REIRE Place of incorporation FEZ# FRisagiE
Name and operation Principal activities Interest held
BEARAMEARE (FE) BRAF &E R E 100%
b (RZEBE——FHAB=HH Hong Kong Investment holding  (E##H direct holding)
8 AEBLBAE (RE) BRAA)
lé:J Hong Kong Metropolitan University
- (China) Limited (known as The
% Open University of Hong Kong
<ZE (China) Limited before 2nd
% September 2021)
?ig #ARER ORI BRARFA rhEE N RHEFE RALERRIARTS 100%
e (RZBZ—F+—AZ+/ Ha5A The People’s Provision of ( B$5#%A indirect holding)
r;:l RASEIERER CFRY) BRAA) Republic of China consultancy
= HKMU Consultants (Shenzhen) Limited services
5 (known as OUHK Consultants (Shenzhen)
§ Limited before 26th November 2021)
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11. @FTH%%E Financial instruments by category

THMEE
BERERRRATFERL
NEREE
- EBERRR RN T EEE
HEESRMEE (MEE15)

SRYEE - IREEMA
- BB R AN SR
BE (HEE14)

- FEWB B (HEE12)

- FEWRBR SN ~ EL{thFEURER R
Kime (HiEE13)

- FRHAHBE=ERAZ
RITERRREERES
&Y (HiEE16)

AN

RSN AN EMEREE
- SRR R

FESTER (FfEE18)
- MFRFEERER (KMi5E21)
-TAERE (KEE22)
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
et RIS -HF
AB=+—H ANB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
- Designated financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (Note 15) 2,243,530 1,990,604
2,243,530 1,990,604
Financial assets at amortised cost
- Financial investments at amortised cost
(Note 14) 99,723 94,178
- Student loan receivables (Note 12) 50,860 35,092
- Accounts receivable, other receivables
and deposits (Note 13) 251,372 215,189
- Bank deposits with original maturities
over three months and cash
and cash equivalents (Note 16) 1,827,834 1,459,426
2,229,789 1,803,885
4,473,319 3,794,489
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost
- Accounts payable and
accrued expenses (Note 18) 172,327 226,697
- Government loans, secured (Note 21) 464,013 440,943
- Lease liabilities (Note 22) 7,768 16,115
644,108 683,755
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12. FEIREB 4 B2k Student loan receivables

2020 - 2021 B4#5#RkS FINANCIAL REPORT

Il o055

R —% i

NB=+—H NB=+—H

At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020

$°000 $°000

FE B E EFR Student loan receivables 50,903 35,092

R EEEE Less: Provision for impairment (43) -
REER [ B2 fEER - Balance as at end of the financial year / period,

FrEiEz R REERIR maximum exposure to credit risk 50,860 35,092

HER Represented by:

—FRERECZEE Repayable within one year 7,331 2,119

—FREECZEE Repayable after one year 43,529 32,973

50,860 35,092

FERSEEERAHELEEREEEMEMRERE / EAIRE L AEEE -

The fair values of student loan receivables approximate their carrying values for both financial year / period and are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

REER  ERiELRRECERBEEFZRESFTNT :
The ageing analysis for the student loan receivables that are past due but not impaired as at the balance sheet date

is as follows:

2 i
NB=+—H AB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000

B ¢ Past due by:
BEA—F R Within 1 year 11 471
B —FEFRN More than 1 year and up to 2 years 6 37
B FEE=FR More than 2 years and up to 3 years 2 38
WEA=FU E More than 3 years 26 8

AEEFEREANBREENESRATFER B A AT EFEREERIE - EHFBERKRBLEETIRA2IATEIEEHERE -
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which use a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all student loan receivables.

R_FE_—FNA=+—8 BRRBLEEGFHFNOE=FTr (ZSFF : £) BHRAE > LE2HEHRERIEEME -
At 31st August 2021, student loan receivables of $43,000 (2020: Nil) were impaired and full provision has been made

accordingly.
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12.

13.

FEWEE S (§8) Student loan receivables (continued)

FEW 4+ ERURERIEEENEEST ¢
Movements on the provision for impairment of student loan receivables are as follows:

S 2 MRIB"EE
NB=+—H ANB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
REH | BBWIZ458%  Balance as at beginning of the financial year / period - 30
REEE%ERS - B3E7E  Provision for impairment, included
HiEESAz X in expenses under other activities 43 -
FR [ HAAMERIIARR]  Written off during the year /
WOz R0 period as uncollectible - (30)
REXR /iR z#E8R  Balance as at end of the financial year / period 43 -

SRR ERRKRBLE GRS HAERRIERR -
The Group does not hold any collateral as security for the student loan receivables.

FEURERTR ~ ELfhFEURERTR « TAfYRIARES

Accounts receivable, other receivables, prepayments and deposits

R-EZ—%F ATBIEE

NB=+—H AB=+—H

At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020

$°000 $°000

FEWERR Accounts receivable 1,235 2,310
EHthFEWERTR Other receivables 227,982 194,337
&E Deposits 22,155 18,542
iRz KEERE Maximum exposure to credit risk 251,372 215,189
FEIFRIE Prepayments 38,254 26,304
289,626 241,493

FEIERTR ~ HAFEWER ~ AN ERZREN A FERERMETEWEMREE / BEANEEE » T 2LUBBEE -
The fair values of accounts receivable, other receivables, prepayments and deposits approximate their carrying values

for both financial years / periods and are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

AEEERAEAVHRSEEIRATER B A AT ETRHEERE - EEEKETIRAZIRTEIREEHERE
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which use a lifetime expected

loss allowance for accounts receivable.
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13. FENRERTR « EtFEURERSR « TRIFRIRRBE (48)

Accounts receivable, other receivables, prepayments and deposits (continued)

AEBZHMEKERRZEAEEERR - REBMBRSENFIRIBEERN - HEHABEMEKERRZREHRA+ZEAZ
TEHRE EiEHE -

The Group’s other receivables and deposits are considered to have low credit risk. Under HKFRS 9’s expected credit
loss model, the Group measures expected credit losses which use a 12-month expected loss allowance for all other
receivables and deposits.

RZEZ—F/\A=1+—H > TIEKENREMEKRREaIAEI RERE - ZERERFRBZEOMEXCRNEIIBER
B4 o RFRBERT IR 2T

At 31st August 2021, the following accounts and other receivables were past due but not impaired. These relate to a
number of independent customers and students for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of
these receivables is as follows:

RIE-—%F RIBTEHF
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000

B Past due by:
BHAVR—EBE=EA Less than 1 month and up to 3 months 5,280 2,009
EHAI=EAZENER More than 3 months and up to 6 months 29 217
EEREBE N E A More than 6 months 413 230
5,722 2,456

HAhIERBIFEWERR « EMEMAR - RUTRERZS TG I ERERE - RELESEEMERFRIFRR

The other classes within accounts receivable, other receivables, prepayments and deposits do not contain impaired
assets. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

14. FISB R AN LRIIEE  Financial investments at amortised cost
RIEZ—% ATETREF
NB=+—H ANB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
i $°000 $000
@)
0 REVES Corporate bonds 99,723 94,178
o
I
O —FRNFIHAEE Current portion 6,643 601
Z JE—ENEIEAEE Non-current portion 93,080 93,577
zZ
T 99,723 94,178
A
35 RIBZ—FENA=+—8  FRIZEEAANEREENREEANTAE T ZE=FT (ZE28F A THE—TtE
. NF7T) > WIREH AR R ERSIEYIER - IR AN S RIS E I SR HAZUR(E -
& At 31st August 2021, the carrying value of non-current financial investments at amortised cost was $99,723,000 (2020:
gl $94,178,000) and stated at the amortised cost less impairment loss. The financial investments at amortised cost are not
< past due or impaired.
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15. B BIRBRRMOTFEESLHEIEEMEE

Designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

R-ZE=—% RIEZEF
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000

JELTHIRE - RATE Unlisted investments, at fair value
BAEFEES Unit trusts 1,088,216 944,919
EEWRES Fixed income funds 1,138,634 1,041,472
REREEZTER Deposits at financial institutions 16,332 3,929
FHRE - BRATE Listed equity securities, at fair value 348 284
iz R REEER Maximum exposure to credit risk 2,243,530 1,990,604

BHEN A TEERRBETERTISNEREMERE -
The fair value of all securities is based on their current bid prices in an active market.

BBEHR KRR HEERENREESMEEC A THEECED « 7| RRIRBRASF AFREBEZRA °

Changes in fair value of designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, interest and investment income
are recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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15. BBFEERRMAFEE2ENBIESHEE (F)
Designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

ERERR RN THEERCHNEIESREEUTIEBHE !
The designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are denominated in the following currencies:

R-B=——& St~

ANB=+—H AB=+—H

At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020

$°000 $'000

e United States dollars 1,653,855 1,442,245
AT Hong Kong dollars 553,445 530,686
EtrT Euro dollars 36,230 17,673
2,243,530 1,990,604

16. REIHAREB =R ZRITERRRER TS FEY

Bank deposits with original maturities over three months and cash and cash equivalents

RIEZ—%F NR-_BE-FF

NR=+—H NA=+—8

At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020

$°000 $'000

HFRITERRFBERS Cash at banks and in hand 215,935 130,206

FRHERIRITIERN Short-term bank deposits 1,222,481 1,027,314

HeRBEEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,438,416 1,157,520
REEHBE=EA Bank deposits with original maturities

ZRITER over three months 389,418 301,906

1,827,834 1,459,426

Pz REERME Maximum exposure to credit risk 1,827,544 1,459,116

RRHAEE=ER ZRITERARRERRSEEYNREETIZUEESE -
The carrying values of bank deposits with original maturities over three months and cash and cash equivalents are mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

17. JERE K E Fee income receipt in advance

RIEZ—%F i

NB=+—H NB=+—H

At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020

$°000 $°000

FEWE B E Fee income receipt in advance 592,283 493,345

TREGIAREEE | AECHEREEY / BHYTERESERERENKRASE -
The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognised in the current reporting year / period relates to fee
receipt in advance at the beginning of the year / period.

S 3 ATEBCEE
AR=+—H NB=+—8
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
BEEEY /EB9IFEW  Revenue recognised that was included in fee
RN ESREDE receipt in advance at the beginning
R A & 5E of the year / period 493,345 313,545

TRET|RFAEREAR A — E AU LN SRR TR BRI SLE ¢
The following table shows the amount of unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original expected
duration of one year or more:

RIEZ—%F RIBZEHF

NR=+-H NB=+—8

At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020

$°000 $°000

FEEHIS R —F RRERR Expected to be recognised within one year 592,283 493,345
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18. FE(FBRFX « FEE1 & AR I%#E Accounts payable, accrued expenses and provisions

RIEZ—%F RIBZEHF

NB=1+—H ANB=+—H

At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020

$°000 $°000

FE{TRRTR Accounts payable 64,913 123,357
FEEtER Accrued expenses 107,414 103,340
ERIBE Financial liabilities 172,327 226,697
B Provisions 35,994 51,285
208,321 277,982

FERTRRRR ~ FEStERA R BEN A TEREREEEMEMBERE / BHEANSRE - T FELUBEEE -
The fair values of accounts payable, accrued expenses and provisions approximate their carrying values for both financial
years / periods and are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

19. iE3EW2ZE Deferred income

wheR WERHBM

BIRFERR =1:) Matched HithigBh
Government Grantand donations- Other fBzE
loan, secured sponsorship Specific donations Total
$°000 $°000 $000 $°000 $°000

RISZ—NEF Balance as at

MA—BziEs:  1st April 2019 60,786 17,448 166,161 8,383 252,778
BARBR Amounts received and

FEWERERN receivable during the period” 19,540 63,118 26,850 172,813 282,321
RS AR Transferred to deferred

HE#H capital fund# (9,859) (789) (13,822) (157,880) (182,350)
EEMEEDRER  Amounts utilised for

ok x| other activities 990 (52,868) (10,571) (12,412) (74,861)
ANB=+—H Balance as at

ZAERR 31st August 2020 71,457 26,909 168,618 10,904 277,888
RZIBEZE Balance as at

HA—BZiEek 1st September 2020 71,457 26,909 168,618 10,904 277,888
FRBEWR Amounts received and

FEW BN receivable during the year® 1,586 37,403 18,891 77,405 135,285
RS AR Transferred to deferred

HEe#H capital fund# (7,408) (6,127) (49,980) (41,402)  (104,917)
EHEMEESER Amounts utilised for

o x| other activities (2,848) (32,239) (20,549) (16,631) (72,267)
RIEZ—%F

NB=+—H Balance as at

ZAERR 31st August 2021 62,787 25,946 116,980 30,276 235,989

N BREREEAERERECTESCERARBYER ERANEAREELRERREESR COTHEEEAEBATT (Z8ZF
T —ERAFABATAEATT) URRIBBRERREN ISTEAM] HEHFOZABATZEATFT (ZFZFF B
A+ N\E—FT) °
This includes the donation received and receivable from The Hong Kong Jockey Club Charities Trust to finance the
construction of the HKMU Jockey Club Institute of Healthcare of $45,069,000 (2020: $156,966,000), and fund the
STEAM Centre with an open resources environment of $6,529,000 (2020: $9,981,000).

# ZENRBENEEYE « BBER[EFESELEELAES -
This represents the transfer to deferred capital fund for the purchase or construction of property, plant and equipment.
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20. K SEN L% Gratuities provision

2020 - 2021 B4#5#RkS FINANCIAL REPORT

B s«

RIEZ—%F NR-ZBE-EF
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
Balance as at beginning of the financial
REY) | BRIz 58k year / period 42,782 39,716
BEeE Provision 43,563 57,828
H{te%E Payments (42,282) (54,762)
Balance as at end of the financial
REXR | SR &R year / period 44,063 42,782
HER : Represented by:
—FRENzEEE Payable within one year 24,569 27,828
—FREMZEE Payable after one year 19,494 14,954
44,063 42,782
BE<E2RESSNAETERNE - ABEMESREN A TEREREEEMEMBEE / BHIEANHDEE - IEREEIIEEES

MEREFUEREREREE - HEESERTHP - HGREMEER -

Provision was made with reference to the terms stated in employees’ contracts. The fair value of gratuities provision
approximates to its carrying amount for both financial year / period. No discounting to non-current portion of gratuities
provision is made as the discounting effect is insignificant given low interest rate in the financial market.



21. IFFEEFRER -

e SRR HIEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LBTHE

UAFE{ESEE Government loans, secured, at fair value

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

RZFZ—% RIEZEHF
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
BRAEEREN
MRATEETER Government loans, secured, at fair value 464,013 440,943
BRNERNEREROT ¢
The government’s loans are repayable as follows:
RIE-—%F ATETRE
NB=+—H ANB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
—FRN Within one year - -
EEFER In the second year 30,611 -
EE=EERFERN In the third to fifth years 162,818 158,401
ERFEUE After the fifth year 270,584 282,542
464,013 440,943

HFEREERAFITHRERRUERERAR R TEESE RS  EEEREZRHEIRER EBNEARETERR

B8k MEMNES (LUBKFHE) - TUREHBROEAIER - ZFENARKRR—RXER » 9 TFFHHE -

Kk

The government loans are interest-free loans from the HKSAR Government to the Group for the development of the
Campus Phase Il, Jockey Club Campus project and the construction of the HKMU Jockey Club Institute of Healthcare
and are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. They are secured by Kwai Hing Learning Centre, and are repayable in equal
annual installments over a period of ten years after the final draw-down of the loan.

RZF—N /| ZFHR > SERITHERBNREHRESRREEENTE » HREKRSHMEES » BFARS—RME 2EEEE
BRI -

In financial period 2019/20, in view of the development of COVID-19 epidemic, the HKSAR Government has granted a
one-off interest-free deferral of loan repayment for a period of two years to alleviate the financial pressure to repay the
outstanding loans under the Start-up Loan Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

22. fiE Leases

SEARNBFIERFEARELEES - HEFHTHERREE -

PEESBRRGRRGS - STREESEFEERIRIEEE

BOBERHE - A R BEEMIFEAEAAGTE RIZFT—F/\B=1+—0 ' iAXHREEEERENHEERRRSRES

tEA+ET -

The Group has leased buildings mainly for warehouses and student hostels. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. Extension and termination options are included in a
number of leases, the majority of which are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessors. At 31st August
2021, the future cash outflows for lease not yet commenced but committed by the Group amounted to $7.9 million.

(a) i EEABREZRMNFIE Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
(i) EA#EZE Right-of-use assets

ety TifERE ( MiEE (1)) LR L]
Buildings Land use rights (Note (1)) Total
$°000 $°000 $°000
RATE—NE
M™AE—H Net book value
HARENFE at 1st April 2019 24,156 5,257 29,413
1N Additions 2,351 - 2,351
HANITE Depreciation for the period (10,677) (310) (10,987)
FE R Exchange adjustment - (36) (36)
/'\_ﬁ E_+—El Net book value
HIBRELFE at 31st August 2020 15,830 4,911 20,741
HER Represented by:
%N Cost 26,507 5,221 31,728
REtinE Accumulated depreciation (10,677) (310) (10,987)
15,830 4,911 20,741
AZFIEHF
NAB—H Net book value
HERENFE at 1st September 2020 15,830 4,911 20,741
& Additions - - -
FRITE Depreciation for the year (8,227) (196)  (8,423)
FETRE Exchange adjustment - 320 320
R-B——f
ANB=+—H Net book value
HIRRMESHE at 31st August 2021 7,603 5,035 12,638
HER : Represented by:
3% Cost 26,507 5,541 32,048
REHRE Accumulated depreciation (18,904) (506) (19,410)
7,603 5,035 12,638
KMi5E Note :

(1) RZBZ—F/N\A=+—8 » RNBRUNPEN L MERENATHEEA=TEHE/N\TEET (ZE-FF  OF=-A

—t+tEw)  BEReE-FA AR N\EBRT (ZEZE

FZTEE-+BATR) REVME L ERER T

—F/\B=1+—HWRATEE - LFHEEERE—BBEIEENGELR —kFTHERBARAR - UAKTIZEEE
REEMETHE -

The fair value of land use right in the PRC of MU-Shenzhen at 31st August 2021 was $34,840,000 (2020:
$42,170,000), representing the valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional
valuers, on an open market value basis. Out of $34,840,000 (2020: $42,170,000), $28,280,000 (2020: $34,225,000)
represents the fair value of the land portion of the investment properties as at 31st August 2021.

EERt it AR B R ERYNFBERER S - —F/\B=+—H2Z R TEFFINMETT

Details and the fair value as at 31st August 2021 of the building portion of the investment properties erected on
this piece of land are disclosed in note 7.
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22. A5 (#8) Leases (continued)
(a) EEABEAEREDRMNFIE () Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet (continued)
(i) FAE&ME Lease liabilities

HEaENSWRIEREROT !
Contractual maturities of lease liabilities are as follows:

EHRe
BN
1FR 126 2-55 Total FREIE(E
Within Between Between contractual Carrying
1year 1and2years 2and5years cash flows amount
$000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $°000
i —— S
AB=+—B At 31stAugust 2021 7,670 239 - 7,909 7,768
B JERENERS  Less: Non-current portion (237)
MENEBTY Current portion 7,531

(b) TEfFE W RIEZMFIE Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

REWERET < HEHEMAENT ¢
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to leases:

BE—_ZE"—F BE_ZS"SH

NB=+—H AB=+—H

IESFRE E++EEA

Year ended Seventeen months

31st August 2021 ended 31st August 2020

$°000 $°000

FREEECITEER Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 8,423 10,987
FEHATE EMERAR Expenses relating to short-term leases

(BEE—MRFEZA) (included in General Expenses) 5 451

IEER Finance costs 454 1,108

FER AR Exchange adjustment
(BIEE—RAZA) (included in General Expenses) (320) 36

BE_E_—F/\A=+—HLEFEHEZRERLEER\B/N\+EBT (BEZE-FF/\A=+—HLt+tEBR : —F—8=A
+8) o

Total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31st August 2021 was $8.8 million (for the seventeen months ended 31st
August 2020: $11.5 million).
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23. BB AESL Deferred capital fund

R-E-—% NR-ZBE-EF
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
REY] | BiFz#58R Balance as at beginning of the financial year / period 576,560 425,098
ERERE R Released to consolidated statement of
HERR AU comprehensive income* (35,303) (30,888)
BEEAEZE#  Payments for capital expenditure# 104,917 182,350
REER [ ik z#E8% Balance as at end of the financial year / period 646,174 576,560

RIS —FR EREE=TRE=TE=FTrx (ZESF : =ZFEN\+/\B/N\Tx) it -
In financial year 2021, this includes $35,303,000 (2020: $30,888,000) depreciation.

# ZARGIERBEHEEYE « MBIRREFHEERSBAN—EENEA+—8BtTT (ZF2FF  —E/\FTIE=1TA
Br) o
This represents the transfer from deferred income of $104,917,000 (2020: $182,350,000) for the purchase or
construction of property, plant and equipment.

24. BIERRIAE (R Deferred tax liability

R-E=-—%& RIB_EE
NB=+—H AB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
IRAERIRE (& Deferred tax liability
(BB+_fEB#%%{+) (To be recovered after more than 12 months) 8,088 5,699

RERBEEERFRARD IR REBRBAEL - £ / HIREENT ¢
The deferred tax liability arises from the undistributed retained earnings of a subsidiary and its movement during the
financial year / period is as follows:

- W-EZ—% RIBZE
8 NB=+—H NB=+—H
lDJ:J At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
2 $°000 $°000
O Balance as at beginning of the financial

Z REY | BBz iEeR year / period 5,699 3,570
% Charged to consolidated statement of

ﬂg ERFE W RN comprehensive income 2,389 2,129
gg Balance as at end of the financial

= RER [ SRz &R year / period 8,088 5,699
N

o

N

o

AN

o

AN

l oss
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25. {EARZA& Employment expenditure
251 IREBE D hZERRAEMNT -

Employment expenditure analysis by nature is as follows:

3 S BE—S-SHE
NB=+—H AB=+—H
IEEFE -+t @EA
Year ended Seventeen months
31st August 2021  ended 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
e s TEREM Salaries, wages and allowances 734,930 1,063,826
SBIRETEIRZEEMET  Employer’s contribution to retirement schemes 28,035 41,408
B EMEEE Provision for gratuities 43,529 57,836
806,494 1,163,070
252 S A B ZEM
Remuneration of higher paid staff
BHASZEHN BRI TEHER :
Their remuneration fell within the following bands:
BHE_SFS-_—F BE_S-SF
NB=+—H NB=+—H
IEEFE -+t @EA
Year ended Seventeen months
31st August 2021  ended 31st August 2020
ABL N
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
HK$1,800,001 — HK$1,950,000 6 6
HK$1,950,001 — HK$2,100,000 12 12
HK$2,100,001 — HK$2,250,000 4 4
HK$2,250,001 — HK$2,400,000 4 2
HK$2,400,001 — HK$2,550,000 2 3
HK$2,550,001 — HK$2,700,000 1 2
HK$2,700,001 — HK$2,850,000 2 1
HK$2,850,001 — HK$3,000,000 2 2
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,150,000 - 1
HK$3,150,001 — HK$3,300,000 1 -
HK$3,450,001 — HK$3,600,000 1 -
HK$4,050,001 — HK$4,200,000 - 1
HK$4,800,001 — HK$4,950,000 1 -
HK$4,950,001 — HK$5,100,000 1 -
HK$6,000,001 — HK$6,150,000 - 1
37 35

HFMEEFHS  BEMRAGEEL 2 MR - IREBUERME -
Remuneration includes salaries, employer’s contributions to retirement schemes, cash allowances and gratuity payments.
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26. —fizBZ General expenses

BisE% Academic expenditure
BIsH% Academic expenses

EREFE B A Temporary staff costs
1THRAX Administrative expenditure
BFEE Building management
REHEER Operating lease expenses
HEER Amortisation expenses
EREFE B A Temporary staff costs
WNERMZ Office expenses

KB ERE Utilities

EEHEE Publicity

Br 7ok 2a it Stores and equipment
ERAENER ~ B Student admission, graduation
KESEMR and activities expenses
EZEERERER Library books and materials
EEREEANEBER Legal and professional fees

EHEEH Project expenses

BEER Recruitment expenses
Hth&ER% Other operating expenses

BE_S—_—F BE_S_BF
NRA=+—H NB=+—H
IESERE LE+tEA

Year ended Seventeen months
31st August 2021  ended 31st August 2020
$°000 $000

6,596 10,600

2,639 2,544

9,235 13,144
54,281 54,842

258 711

196 309

2,598 2,986
29,517 34,855
22,331 26,162
20,217 32,547
2,894 4,308
43,145 50,690
23,174 33,295
3,901 2,788
13,475 21,511
1,941 3,648
21,275 24117
239,203 292,769
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27. i8R B S ZF B Eth;EE) Other activities funded by donations and grants

WA
BREe
SEEEARS
PAS =N
AT fEBh &
—ARECHHBR
HEME -~ KRR

B (E548) / &ek

A%
HEER
BEREZHRNER
B2 TR
Hith

AL LU=
Hfth7Z#HRIR

Income
Donation released from
- Deferred capital fund
- Deferred income
Donations and benefactions
Matching grant
Matched donations - General

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Expenditure
Depreciation charge
Course development and projects
Scholarships and bursaries
Others

Results of other activities funded
by donations and grants

BE_S—_—F BE_S_BF
NB=+—H NB=+—H
IESERE LE+tEA

Year ended Seventeen months
31st August 2021  ended 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000

35,303 30,888

72,267 74,861

7,480 3,743

23,086 15,692
(1,000) 3,031

(62) 103

137,074 128,318
(44,776) (44,267)
(67,701) (46,871)
(22,024) (38,287)
(14,590) (16,464)
(149,091) (145,889)
(12,017) (17,571)
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28. fo B & RAEIBEk Matching grants and matched donations

%hﬂ%ﬁf‘vﬁ?ﬂliﬁ@iﬁﬁﬂﬁéf EERENRN  URBBTTERRIBHERREHNS  EBNNTHREBNR ST =FARILEH
EhEEE - AZEF/\F—A—HiE ) RBEAMAETBFIITHEREANECE FMEIEstE o

The HKSAR Government established Matching Grant Scheme in June 2003 to help enhance the fundraising capacities of the
UGC-funded institutions and develop a stronger philanthropic culture in the community towards investment in education. Since
1st January 2008, the University has been included in the beneficiary list of the HKSAR Government's Matching Grant Scheme.

RBNEEH ~ FRH ~ BAIREB CHEBHEB SRR E BN - B RHHBSRAEMIHNT ¢

Details of the University’s matched donations, matching grants awarded and the related expenditure of 4th, 5th, 6th
and 7th Matching Grant Scheme are as follows:

FINANCIAL REPORT

Az 3 A

2
7

bk =]

B

)

. 2020 - 2021
o
3
N

[GES e g — AR BEC AN YEmE AN
Matching Matched donations Matched donations
grants - General -Specific
$°000 $°000 $°000
ATE—NE
MB—H2 &R Balance as at 1st April 2019 109,557 7,062 163,440
e Income
B/ e Donations/Grants 7,032 3,031 4,141
FERIGE W Interest and investment income 4174 636 5,571
11,206 3,667 9,712
53 Expenditure
EAMIER Capital projects - - (12,580)
RESKIRIE Scholarships and prizes (40) - (4,584)
§Es Bursaries - (441) (875)
SiEEE Academic development (831) - (804)
Hith Others (767) - (1,236)
Refund of corresponding matching
grant for returned donations
IR [EIEAT 2 8RR to HKSAR Government (40) ; ;
RO Z ERER Refund of unspent donation to donor i - ©)
(1,678) (441) (20,088)
RIBZEHF
NB=+—Hx#8 Balance as at 31st August 2020 119,085 10,288 153,064
A
HhB—HBZiEeR Balance as at 1st September 2020 119,085 10,288 153,064
g Income
FE R E W Interest and investment income 1,280 432 1,989
1,280 432 1,989
52 Expenditure
BEAMIER Capital projects - - (59,725)
RE SRR Scholarships and prizes (140) - (1,663)
Bhge Bursaries - - (310)
B R Academic development (596) - (2,268)
Htty Others (28) (5,610) (514)
(764) (5,610) (64,480)
EREREETS Transfer of balance - (1,000) 1,000
A —F
NB=+—BHx#E8s Balance as at 31st August 2021 119,601 4,110 91,573
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29. F L85 pusthaeir Bt 2R MR 2 R ECHHAR

Matching grants and matched donations for Pilot Mainland Experience Scheme
for Post-secondary Students

AT EBERENGN - B LB2ERMERRT S BIECHEB S RABRBIAELIBIIRE - (FRILLNERE - e EREHHEER

BB TG E ST I HEEE - TYRHERESERNEN - HiICHHBEREMBERAX

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

In compliance with the requirements of Education Bureau which funds the grant, matching grants and related donations of
Pilot Mainland Experience Scheme for Post-secondary Students, have to be separately disclosed. For the purpose of this
note, all expenditure funded by matching grants and related donations are recognized in the year / period of expenditure
incurred. The eligible donations, the corresponding matching grants and the related income and expenditure are detailed

as follows:

ATE—NE

MA—HZ &
Wz

R R IRE

B
SHEBE
S 4T
BhES

Hity

BBl 2 BREE

et ft 12

N—"—

NB=+—HzEe

RIBETEF
HhB—HBZiEeR
llrgas
FERIRE R
HX

1B KRR
BhEE

Hith

AR —F

NB=+—HZ#Eek

Balance as at 1st April 2019
Income
Interest and investment income

Expenditure
Tour package fee
Scholarships and prizes
Bursaries
Others
Refund of unspent funding to
HKSAR Government

Balance as at 31st August 2020

Balance as at 1st September 2020
Income
Interest and investment income

Expenditure
Scholarships and prizes
Bursaries
Others

Balance as at 31st August 2021

[(GEge Tk —ARECEHERR
Matching Matched
grants donations
$000 $000
5,152 6,885
64 406
64 406
(429) (17)
- (160)
- (10)
(17) (55)
(4,770) -
(5,216) (242)
- 7,049
- 7,049
- 270
- 270
- (134)
- (10)
- (4,300)
- (4,444)
- 2,875
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30. EEBEBARRHER —F—i8 EL2EBNZHE
Scheme for Subsidy on Exchange for Post-secondary Students and Scheme for
Subsidy on Exchange to “Belt and Road” Regions for Post-secondary Students

ATTEHE RGNS  EL2EEAIRTER [—F— B2 BNATRARREREIIRE - (FALINEERAR  FREERE
BErZ G E HE IR 8EIEH - TYIIMEEER I R

In compliance with the requirements of Education Bureau which funds Subsidy on Exchange for Post-secondary Students
and Subsidy on Exchange to “Belt and Road” Regions for Post-secondary Students, the funding received and the payments
have to be separately disclosed. For the purpose of this note, all expenditure funded by the subsidies is recognized in the
year / period of expenditure incurred. The related income and expenditure are detailed as follows:

245 r—&—i §L
Riatal BEBAREE
Subsidy on  Subsidy on Exchange
Exchange for to “Belt and Road”
Post-secondary Regions for Post-

. 2020 - 2021 B47#R % FINANCIAL REPORT
o
~
N

Students secondary Students
$°000 $°000
RZE—NE
M —H i &k Balance as at 1st April 2019 1,914 1,339
g Income
‘e Subsidy received 1,662 -
FISYeas Interest income 5 2
1,667 2
Rz Expenditure
B4&Ehe Subsidy to students (1,205) (546)
Refund of unspent funding to
IREIEAT 2 875 HKSAR Government (767) (794)
(1,972) (1,340)
RIBZEHF
NA=+—HziEER Balance as at 31st August 2020 1,609 1
RZEIEE
NB—BZi&EeR Balance as at 1st September 2020 1,609 1
g Income
‘e Subsidy received 1,933 -
ST En Interest income 1 -
1,934 -
Transfer to Scheme for
Means-tested Subsidy on
@ % 8t Exchange to “Belt and Road” Regions
BAXRARELE for Post-secondary Students - (1)
: (1)
\TE—HF
NA=+—HzZiEER Balance as at 31st August 2021 3,543 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. HZchC i #Bh518] Research Matching Grant Scheme

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

R EARBHEENEZSGENGN - AREHHEHEAFHEIIRE © (FALLMERR - A ERIH MBS RBRMEMIIH

HEEHZE B2 - TIRMERESERNER  HAiCH#MERERMCBERAX

In compliance with the requirements of University Grants Committee which funds the grant, matching grants and related
donations of Research Matching Grant Scheme, have to be separately disclosed. For the purpose of this note, all expenditure
funded by matching grants and related donations are recognized in the year / period of expenditure incurred. The eligible
donations, the corresponding matching grants and the related income and expenditure are detailed as follows:

AZB—haE
mA—B kS
ez

1B | MBS / BRFEEH

FIRRIRE WS

553
AR
R
FRZUAERAER (T ETHE /
Bt stiE
Hith

E/\\— == — EE‘E
R—F—F

NA=+—BHZEeF

A—EE—EEE
N —Tm —

NA—BZhEER
Wk

B/ MBS / REEHK

F B RIRERES

353
HZEER
sG]
B HZEE)

A-B— 4

N—"—

NB=+—BHZ#EEk

Balance as at 1st April 2019
Income

Donations/Research Grants/
Research Contracts Received

Interest and investment income

Expenditure
Research Projects
Research Equipment

Research-related Software
Licence/Technology Licence

Others

Balance as at 31st August 2020

Balance as at 1st September 2020

Income

Donations/Research Grants/
Research Contracts Received

Interest and investment income

Expenditure
Research Projects
Research Equipment
Research Activities for Students

Balance as at 31st August 2021

[GEgs Tk —ARECEHERR
Matching Matched
grants donations
$000 $000
8,700 16,801
46 59
8,746 16,860

- (216)

- (2,639)

- (4,480)

- (221)

- (7,556)

8,746 9,304
8,746 9,304
23,086 15,600
84 48
23,170 15,648
(479) (14,537)

- (227)

- (40)

(479) (14,804)
31,437 10,148
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

32. T—F—i SL2EBATRALREEHE
Scheme for Means-tested Subsidy on Exchange to “Belt and Road”
Regions for Post-secondary Students
ATTEHERERGYE -5 EL2EEARAREETRAEEEIIRSE - (EALLMNEAR - e ERENEeNzHIg
AR | HRR G - YR EERR R KX ¢
In compliance with the requirements of Education Bureau which funds Scheme for Means-tested Subsidy on Exchange
to “Belt and Road” Regions for Post-secondary Students, the funding received and the payments have to be separately

disclosed. For the purpose of this note, all expenditure funded by the subsidies is recognized in the year / period of
expenditure incurred. The related income and expenditure are detailed as follows:

$°000
ZEhE
mA—H &R Balance as at 1st April 2019 -
e Income
‘aMe Subsidy received 762
MERIZEUES Interest and investment income 1
763
53 Expenditure
SEEYE Subsidy to students (43)
(43)
R_EEEF
NA=+—HziEER Balance as at 31st August 2020 720
hA—BiEER Balance as at 1st September 2020 720
llyga Income
Uk Subsidy received 1,340
Transfer from Scheme for Subsidy on Exchange
HE M- 525 EARRE to “Belt and Road” Regions for Post-secondary Students 1
1,341
i ATE-—fF
@)
o NA=+—HziEER Balance as at 31st August 2021 2,061
4
-
<
@)
Z
<
P
w
ﬁu
¥R
=
N
o
(Q\]
o
AN
o
(Q\]
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LBTHE

33. E LB AEREER [—F—K BAXRRAREEFD
Non-means-tested Subsidies for Post-secondary Students to Participate in
Exchange Activities in the Mainland and Belt and Road Regions

AU EHERENGN - EL2EtERE [—F—K BAXREARBEFEAFHBIIKE - (FRLLHEERE - EER
BN HOEESHXE ( BI2HEE - TV RHEEEMRERAX

Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

In compliance with the requirements of Education Bureau which funds Scheme for Non-means-tested Subsidy for Post-
secondary Students to Participate in Exchange Activities in the Mainland and Belt and Road, the funding received and
the payments have to be separately disclosed. For the purpose of this note, all expenditure funded by the subsidies is
recognized in the year / period of expenditure incurred. The related income and expenditure are detailed as follows:

BEE2L r—&%—i&
Pusth RS ER B 2L
RABREBEHE RABEEHE
Non-means- Non-means-
tested Mainland tested Subsidy on
Experience Exchange to “Belt
Scheme for and Road” Regions
Post-secondary  for Post-secondary
Students Students
$°000 $000
RZE—NE
MA—Hz iR Balance as at 1st April 2019 - -
g Income
LUk Subsidy received 824 216
R U Interest income 1 -
R_EEEF
NA=+—HziEER Balance as at 31st August 2020 825 216
R_EEE
HB—HZiEER Balance as at 1st September 2020 825 216
2 Income
B Subsidy received 203 884
203 884
R_FE_—F
NA=+—HziEeR Balance as at 31st August 2021 1,028 1,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

34, BRI B BIgE WL Net interest and investment income

HE—_E-—F BHE_E-EE

NB=+—H ANB=+—H

IEEFE IE++@EA

Year ended Seventeen months

31st August 2021  ended 31st August 2020

$°000 $'000

REFITERZH B Interest income from bank deposits 7,006 33,091
BEERRRMATEE Fair value gains and investment

NEMBEECLTFE income on financial assets at
B RIREWERS TR fair value through profit or loss 239,346 219,447
246,352 252,538

35. FifS#RFZ Income tax expense

2020 - 2021 B4#5#RkS FINANCIAL REPORT

l o7s

HRARERBREGHEEEFTRBHAR - MPEBAFANZWARE BN EBMAEFNFER (ZF_FF : Fx) »
R ERFEEAIGBEFREEFIER - ZRYIBAEMCBFNRE - ERRERGERREN - RODEBHREM (PE)

RBTREE - ERGISRIBRIAASREASAT

No Hong Kong profits tax is provided for the University and MU-China as the University is exempted from taxation pursuant
to Section 88 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance and MU-China is not subject to the profits tax as it derives the income from
offshore activities for the financial year (2020: Nil). Taxation on profits generated by MU-Shenzhen has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profit for the financial year at the rate of taxation prevailing in the PRC in which it operates. The
amount of income tax expense charged to the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income represents:

BE_F—_—F BEEEF
AB=+—H NB=+—H
IESFRE @A
Year ended Seventeen months
31st August 2021  ended 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000

BHATRIE Current taxation
EHEAER Hong Kong profits tax - ;
PRI BRAIGIR PRC enterprise income tax 6,653 7,145
6,653 7,145
IEREFR IR Deferred taxation 2,390 2,129
9,043 9,274
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Income tax expense (continued)

35. FhiSiRFAZ (#8)

SENRRAIZRCRIE  BIRAAS A2 RRGSHAIERSEERNT
The taxation on the Group’s surplus before income tax differs from the theoretical amounts that would arise using the
taxation rate of the home country of the University as follows:

HE—ES—"—F BE_ZS-ZF
NB=+—H NB=+—H
IEEFE @A
Year ended Seventeen months
31st August 2021  ended 31st August 2020
$°000 $'000
PRI FIZRER Surplus before income tax 657,594 510,492
FRARBARMZ16.5% Notional tax calculated at the
“ECFHF116.5%) rate of the home country of
REHEREDN the University at 16.5%
BERT (2020: 16.5%) 108,503 84,231
Tax effect on surplus of the University
HERBRR TS RGIZE 88 1§ which is exempted from taxation
ERBHR R KPR pursuant to Section 88 of the Inland
LR RE Revenue Ordinance (104,113) (79,506)
Expenses incurred in
ez PEE A2 E R MU-China not tax deductible 4 5
Effect of different taxation rate in
FRTEE (FE) the PRC in which a subsidiary carries
RATRARENZE out business operations 2,260 2,428
FRENEDIK Temporary difference on undistributed
REBBEBRCERTE retained earnings from a subsidiary 2,389 2,129
Hith Others - (13)
Frigiims Income tax expense 9,043 9,274
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

36. F&{IERIE Commitments
36.1 IR BA(IRIE Campus development commitments

BE_E_—F/\A=1+—H SEHERERE  EANEAEEFRFERSRLAMRER R BINANREDT :

As at 31st August 2021, the Group had commitments for the development of the Jockey Club Campus, the HKMU Jockey
Club Institute of Healthcare and related facilities as follows:

= St 3 RIBZEHF

AB=+—H NB=+—H

At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020

$°000 $°000

BEEGHEREE Contracted but not provided for 64,179 175,664

36.2 H{thi&{d5xI8 Other commitments

(a) RIBFRSZEEBFIITHEBAFZERNRZRER - MRARSRIERS  REREPRTEN M ETEEREATURE
Under the terms in the agreement with the HKSAR Government, the leasehold land on which the University’s
campus is erected may be repossessed should the University terminate as an educational institution.

(b) RZF-EFMA  XEBREETARBAREBRSRFITSNRIETERLEAR (B ) UAERSHBHBLERRA
=&
The University entered into agreement in April 2020 with the Zhaoging Municipal Government and Zhaoqing
University to jointly establish Hong Kong Metropolitan University (Zhaoging). The University has committed to
contribute $300,000,000 for the project over the agreed period.

37. RETASFEWTALFIE Operating lease rental receivable

BE_F"_—FN\A=1+—H  SEEFTHENKERE THARRFEBSUARERNT ¢
As at 31st August 2021, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease receivable under non-cancellable operating
leases as follows:

RIEZ—%F TECE
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
Rida—F No later than one year 10,105 7,606
Later than one year and
BE—FEFERRE no later than five years 14,017 3,711
24,122 11,317
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
38. IREMR=HEHE Cash flow information
38.1 ¥3%;5BFR1S2IRE Cash generated from operations
HE—ES"—F BE_S"ZF
NB=+—H NB=+—H
12353 LE+H@ER
Year ended Seventeen months
31st August 2021  ended 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
PRI EIZER Surplus before income tax 657,594 510,492
FE Adjustments for:
F B RIRE WS Interest and investment income (246,352) (252,538)
HEFR Interest on lease liability 454 1,108
R EE G Provision for/(reversal of) impairment

AEZER / (#E) of student loan receivables 43 (30)
FEW 2 4 EFR PR Written off of student loan receivable - 30
FIEBMEEZ Provision for impairment of stock

REEIEER of course materials 55 3
HEYE ~ Bk Loss/(gain) on disposal of property,

SRMERVESIE /| (ZRER) plant and equipment 62 (98)
ER B EEE Amortisation of intangible asset 46 3,440
ITEEMR Depreciation charge 113,648 124,615
FREEECITEER Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 8,423 10,987

EEESEHEIZ Surplus before changes in

BER working capital 533,973 398,009
RIZBMETFZ Decrease/(increase) in stock of

L/ (18h0) course materials 92 (334)
FEWRBESN « EMthFEWBRESR «  Increase in accounts receivable, other

FATRIERIRE ZIE N receivables, prepayments and deposits (49,564) (123,825)
FAMRE LR E 235N Increase in fee income receipt in advance 98,937 179,800
EEBMBRARERZ Increase in various donations income

HEEZ L0 receipts and utilisation, net 33,588 159,270
FEFTRRRN ~ FEStE AR (Decrease)/increase in accounts payable,

Bz CR) /1Em accrued expenses and provisions (82,844) 104,238
E(EREBEZIRE Cash generated from operations 534,182 717,158
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
38. I|NEREEFl (§8) Cash flow information (continued)
38.2kERE EHI2 B EEERER Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

BREERER Government loans, secured

BE—F——F BE_EEHF
AB=+—H NB=+—H
IESFRE @A
Year ended Seventeen months
31st August 2021  ended 31st August 2020
$°000 $000
Balance as at beginning of the financial
REA] | BBz iEER year / period 440,943 483,315
Interest-free loan received from
WERELAT e EE R the Government 14,400 )
Interest element transferred to
F BB R IR deferred income (1,586) (19,540)
FW/HRFE Interest for the year / period 10,256 8,868
Interest-free loan repaid to
BRI R BEMR the Government - (31,700)
Balance as at end of the financial
REXR [ BiRZiEER year / period 464,013 440,943

39. BABA 35 Related party transactions
39.1 ElFnEI3ES Transactions with subsidiaries

RERM /BN » KBEZFIMARPEBAETTUATERRS :

During the year / period, the following significant transactions with MU-Shenzhen and MU-China were undertaken
by the University:

BE—_ZE"—F BE_Z"SH

NB=+—H AB=+—H

IEEFE E+tE@EA

Year ended Seventeen months

31st August 2021  ended 31st August 2020

$°000 $°000

e F/ATIFIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 3,480 3,503

FEN FRBIFIEABEERERM - |IEH - 82 > IRERKBERLLUBEHENFUIE - BIRTFABMRIERE @ AHEER
RIECER ©

Amounts due from subsidiaries are related to business operations, unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand
and denominated in Hong Kong dollars. There is no past due or default payment history to amounts due from subsidiaries.
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

39. FiE%A35 (#8) Related party transactions (continued)
392FEEHABSMNEFHSE Key management personnel compensation

SENTIEEEASREETHE - BEAEHEENSEEH LEHENSENSEEEAS - HMSWT ¢
The key management of the Group refers to those senior management having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Group and their compensations are analysed as follows:

BE—E——5F BEEEHF

NANB=+—H NB=+—H

IESFRE @A

Year ended Seventeen months

31st August 2021  ended 31st August 2020

$°000 $°000

e RoERL Salaries and allowances 51,911 68,341
Employer’s contribution to

B EHHRARET IRV retirement schemes 397 651

B SN SRS Provision for gratuities 5,049 5,702

57,357 74,694
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

40. REBFERBERREEGHREHR

Balance sheet and statement of changes in fund balances of the University

401 KEBEEAMER Balance sheet of the University

FERHBEE

REYE

Mk - RERERE
®IEE

EREEE
FRENRE
FERBERR
BBEN AN SRR E

RBEE
ZBMERF
FEWFREIFRIA

AR~ FRITRUER RS

BBERR RN TEE
BLNEIEERMEE

BEIEN AN SRR E

REHREEBB =R
ZIRITER

RERFEFEY

ik ) =NE
FRREBRE

FEIRRAR ~ FESTER
3

U €
B SN B REE D
HERERBES

FINANCIAL REPORT

REBEEFHR

Az 3 A

2
7

bk =]

REERRBAR

B

fit

2020 - 2021

Bl s/

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Right-of-use assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Student loan receivables
Financial investments at amortised cost

CURRENT ASSETS
Stock of course materials
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Accounts receivable, other receivables,
prepayments and deposits

Student loan receivables

Designated financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Financial investments at amortised cost

Bank deposits with original maturities
over three months

Cash and cash equivalents

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Fee income receipt in advance

Accounts payable, accrued expenses
and provisions

Deferred income
Current portion of gratuities provision
Current portion of lease liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

RZEZ—% ATBRE
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2021 At 31st August 2020
$°000 $°000
132,614 135,784
1,925,809 1,876,637

- 46

7,603 15,830

9,000 9,000
43,529 32,973
93,080 93,577
2,211,635 2,163,847
2,567 2,714

3,480 3,503
289,331 241,351
7,331 2,119
2,243,530 1,990,604
6,643 601
344,995 277,511
1,400,255 1,122,705
4,298,132 3,641,108
592,282 492,452
207,660 277,390
235,989 277,888
24,569 27,828
7,531 8,347
1,068,031 1,083,905
3,230,101 2,557,203
5,441,736 4,721,050
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

40. AEHEEARRRETEREHR (§)

Balance sheet and statement of changes in fund balances of the University (continued)

401 KEEEAMER () Balance sheet of the University (continued)

WIEZ—% RIBTEHF
NB=+—H AB=+—H
gz  At31stAugust2021  At31stAugust 2020
Note $°000 $°000

ERBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Y SN EE Gratuities provision 19,494 14,954
BT EIRIRER Government loans, secured 464,013 440,943
HEaE Lease liabilities 237 7,768
FIEEAEE Deferred capital fund 646,174 576,560
1,129,918 1,040,225
PRERE TOTAL NET ASSETS 4,311,818 3,680,825

HER REPRESENTED BY

ELHGHES FUNDS AND RESERVES 40.2 4,311,818 3,680,825

REGNR_F-_—SF+-A-_HAXHENLEEREAR
Approved by the Council on 2nd December 2021

Fina MEEE HEE
Peter WAN Kam-to Paul LAM Kwan-sing Raymond CHIU Chi-wai

gE RE R ARE SRR
Treasurer President Director of Finance &
Facilities Management
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LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

40. AEHEEARRRETEHREHR (§)

Balance sheet and statement of changes in fund balances of the University (continued)

40.2 KEE &38R Statement of changes in fund balances of the University

EHES —hg s
Specific General igE
funds reserve Total
$'000 $°000 $'000
MRZE—H%E
MmMA—Hzt&E&R Balance as at 1st April 2019 309,292 2,889,676 3,198,968
HANEER Surplus for the period 11,874 469,983 481,857
RIBIEHF
NB=+—BHxziEER Balance as at 31st August 2020 321,166 3,359,659 3,680,825
RIB"F
HB—HZiEER Balance as at 1st September 2020 321,166 3,359,659 3,680,825
FRRER Surplus for the year 4,325 626,668 630,993
RIEZ—%
NB=+—BxziEek Balance as at 31st August 2021 325,491 3,986,327 4,311,818




FARTEIR

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

B4 eS8 Student Statistics

(i) FHEEAL
_BHER
sEEEAe
(IR HEERE)
- EEER
- RMEEHER

(i) BERHSRY
(IR LREEE)

(iii) ERBEFHEMED
(GERERMELHE2FE)'

EAZ Tuition Fee

() #®e=5 (HET)
AT e
KRR EIEER
R
EER RS
HERETER
RS
- SBE@E

(il) EBr2AER (EET)
-BHERE
IR
- EigERE
RGBSR
B E@E

(i) SEBETHEE (5T)
-BHERE
s&EERIE"

- EiEER
(M2 A4St RiRes
AkE)"
- RMER5H R

(v) S2HTIHSH (7T)

- EERie

(i) Average student headcount
- Credit Bearing Programmes
- Distance Learning Programmes
(DL & e-Learning Programmes)
- Face-to-face Programmes
- Non-Credit Bearing Programmes'

(i) Total student credits
(DL & e-Learning Programmes)’

(iii) Average credit per student
(DL & e-Learning Programmes)’

(i) By school ($ million)
- School of A&SS
- Lee Shau Kee School of B&A
- School of S&T
- School of N&HS
- School of E&L
- LIPACE
- Total Tuition Fee
(i) By category ($ million)
- Credit Bearing Programmes
- Distance Learning Programmes

- Face-to-face Programmes
- Non-Credit Bearing Programmes

- Total Tuition Fee

(iii) Average fee per student ($)
- Credit Bearing Programmes
- Distance Learning Programmes’
- Face-to-face Programmes
(Undergraduate Full-time
Equivalent only)’
- Non-Credit Bearing Programmes’

(iv) Average fee per credit ($)
- Distance Learning Programmes’

LUBTTHEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
2020/21

Vs

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20
%

8,490 8,471 8,310 -1.9%
10,785 10,899 11,112 2.0%
37,261 33,234 33,999 2.3%
179,422 178,205 186,210 4.5%
21.1 21.0 22.4 6.7%
2020/21

) Vs,

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20
%

263.3 356.0 312.3 -12.3%
329.6 493.4 396.6 -19.6%
1411 178.2 155.8 -12.6%
218.5 368.1 267.9 -27.2%
108.9 150.5 1441 -4.3%
124 .1 163.8 165.7 1.2%
1,185.5 1,710.0 1,442.4 -15.6%
210.1 278.3 229.7 -17.5%
848.6 1,263.0 1,043.6 -17.4%
126.8 168.7 169.1 0.2%
1,185.5 1,710.0 1,4424 -15.6%
24,748 25,996 27,647 6.4%
79,334 92,459 93,287 0.9%
3,403 4,132 4,973 20.4%
1,171 1,236 1,234 -0.2%
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

W#ETEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

2. B% (#) Tuition Fee (Continued)

ERBEEE (7T)'
Tuition Fee Per Student ($)’

100,000

90,000

80,000

70,000

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

EIERIZ 24,748 25,996 27,647
Distance Learning Programmes

EZHRE (U2 AP LREEERE) 79,334 92,459 93,287
Face-to-face Programmes
(Undergraduate Full-time Equivalent only)

MERDERIE 3,403 4,132 4,973
Non-Credit Bearing Programmes

2020 - 2021 B4#5#ke FINANCIAL REPORT
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FIEER
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

W#ETESE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

3. Bz Expenditure

2020/21

) Vs3

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20
%

() B220R1E (i) Operating cost for full-time equivalent
BAEERA (7T)' student for credit bearing programmes ($)'
- BERA - Direct Cost 28,983 29,442 30,034 2.0%
- FARE R AN - Indirect Cost 29,738 31,867 31,261 -1.9%
- MR A - Total Cost 58,721 61,309 61,295 0.0%
(i) EE8I%E (H87t) (i) Result for Other Activities ($ million) 19.0 (17.6)  (12.0) -31.8%
(i) FHERAZ (iii) Average course population
- EIBERIZ - Distance Learning Programmes 541 58.3 61.0 4.6%
- ERERTE - Face-to-face Programmes 113.6 102.1 98.4 -3.6%
(iv) EEMAHEBMNE DX (iv) % of operating costs to tuition fee
- BoERIE - Credit Bearing Programmes 79.1% 83.2% 71.0% -14.6%
- ML ERIZ - Non-Credit Bearing Programmes 90.6% 97.7%  75.0% -23.2%
-fRE9=x - Total 80.3% 84.6% 71.5% -15.5%

4. ¥EEE R4 Staff Cost

2020/21

5 Vs3

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20
%

(i) Z2BHEEAH (i) No of full-time staff
(FHEEERS) (exclude project staff) 920.8 939.7 964.0 2.6%
(i) #ENEEE (H58m)” (i) Total Payroll ($ million)*
BHBAB Academic Staff
- ZEm - Tutor 435 50.0 42.6 -14.8%
-SRI - Course Co-ordinators 300.8 460.4 3356 -27.1%
344.3 510.4 378.2 -25.9%
RRRZRAEE Dean & School staff 76.4 161.1 99.3 -38.4%
THAE Admin Staff 273.0 412.9 262.5 -36.4%
FRRHES Temporary Staff 34.8 75.9 64.4  -15.2%
fag Total 728.5 1,160.3 804.4 -30.7%
(iil) BB AN ERAEHEHIE (i) % of academic staff costs to
A E 2 total staff costs 47.3% 44.0%  47.0% 6.9%
(iv) 20 B R AN TR Z (iv) % of staff costs to
B E total expenditure 69.1% 69.9%  65.5% -6.3%
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FERER
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

W#ETEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

5. Hfth Others

SEEAFEFATERREKRLRFIZRRE (B8T)?
Group’s Net Result Before Interest and
Investment Income for the Year ($ million)?

430 1
411.7
410 —
390 —
370 —
350
330
310
290

280.5
270 —

259.1

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

250 -

SECFELEERR (B&8T)’
Group’s Operating Result for the Year ($ million)?

430 1
423.7
410 —
390
370 —
350
330
310

290

276.6
270 261.6

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

250 -



FIEER
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

W#ETESE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

5. Hfth (#8) Others (continued)

BHBRITHAZEEDE
Expenditure Allocation Between Academic and Administration

100%
80%
60%
40%
20%
0%
2018/19 2020/21
I 77ERE% Administrative Expenses 39.8% 41.3% 39.3%
B =550 Academic Expenses 60.2% 58.7% 60.7%

FE24& 2% (7t) Expenditure Per Student ($)

BoFE
Credit Bearing Programmes’
70,000
60,000
50,000
40,000
30,000
20,000
10,000
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
B R Indirect Cost 29,738 31,867 31,261
. B Direct Cost 28,983 29,442 30,034

1. ZENEIEEHEYFRABAEELET - EEBILR -
Annualised figures are used in 2019/20 for comparsion purpose.
2. TECEECEC—FEGEAE/\B=1T—HLE+ZEBMRARESZH ;
CENEE_FHEGEEE_SEE/\A=+—HLE+ AR BEMRA RS H
BN\ EIENFEEEEE=ZR=t+—HIL+EANKAESZH -
2020/21 and 2018/19 cover 12-month period while the comparative figures in 2019/20 covers 17-month.
3. IENEIRTEHERFEREERUFENMEATAE -
2020/21 vs 2019/20% is based on annualised figures.
4. FEMESEIEEERSZMEMERMS -
Total payroll includes both operating expenditure and expenditure in other activities.
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